
 
Agenda compiled by:  
Andy Booth - andy.booth@leeds.gov.uk  
Governance Services,  
Civic Hall 

Enquiries specific to 
planning applications on 
the agenda should be 
directed to Panel Team; 
Phone 0113 3786980 
Email; 
planspanel@leeds.gov.uk 
 

 

  Produced on Recycled Paper 

 

 

 

 

CITY PLANS PANEL 
 

 
Meeting to be held in Civic Hall, Leeds on 

Thursday, 7th November, 2024 
at 1.30 pm 

 
 

 
MEMBERSHIP 

 
Councillors 

 
C Campbell 
B Anderson 

K Brooks 
P Carlill 
D Cohen 

K Dye 
R Finnigan 

A Khan 
A Maloney 

J Heselwood (Chair) 
J Garvani 

 
 
 
We strive to ensure our public committee meetings are inclusive and accessible for all.  If 
you are intending to observe a public meeting in person, please advise us in advance of 
any specific access requirements or if you have a Personal Emergency Evacuation Plan 
(PEEP) that we need to take into account by email (FacilitiesManagement@leeds.gov.uk).  
Please state the name, date and start time of the committee meeting you will be observing 
and include your full name and contact details. 
 
Note to observers of the meeting.  To remotely observe this meeting, please click on the 
‘View the Meeting Recording’ link which will feature on the meeting’s webpage (link below) 
ahead of the meeting.  The webcast will become available at the commencement of the 
meeting: 
Council and democracy 
 

Public Document Pack

mailto:planspanel@leeds.gov.uk
mailto:FacilitiesManagement@leeds.gov.uk
https://democracy.leeds.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=947&MId=12691&Ver=4


 

 

A G E N D A 
 
 

Item 
No 

Ward Item Not 
Open 

 Page 
No 

1   
 

  APPEALS AGAINST REFUSAL OF INSPECTION 
OF DOCUMENTS 
 
 
To consider any appeals in accordance with 
Procedure Rule 15.2 of the Access to Information 
Rules (in the event of an Appeal the press and 
public will be excluded) 
 
(*In accordance with Procedure Rule 15.2, written 
notice of an appeal must be received by the Head 
of Governance Services at least 24 hours before 
the meeting) 
 

 

2   
 

  EXEMPT INFORMATION - POSSIBLE 
EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 
 
1 To highlight reports or appendices which 

officers have identified as containing exempt 
information, and where officers consider that 
the public interest in maintaining the 
exemption outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information, for the reasons 
outlined in the report. 

 
2 To consider whether or not to accept the 

officers recommendation in respect of the 
above information. 

 
3 If so, to formally pass the following 

resolution:- 
 
 RESOLVED – That the press and public be 

excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of the following parts of the 
agenda designated as containing exempt 
information on the grounds that it is likely, in 
view of the nature of the business to be 
transacted or the nature of the proceedings, 
that if members of the press and public were 
present there would be disclosure to them of 
exempt information, as follows:- 

 
  
 

 



 

 

Item 
No 

Ward Item Not 
Open 

 Page 
No 

3   
 

  LATE ITEMS 
 
 
To identify items which have been admitted to the 
agenda by the Chair for consideration 
 
(The special circumstances shall be specified in 
the minutes) 
 

 

4   
 

  DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 
 
To disclose or draw attention to any interests in 
accordance with Leeds City Council’s ‘Councillor 
Code of Conduct’. 
 

 

5     APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

 

6   
 

  MINUTES - 10 OCTOBER 2024 
 
To confirm as a correct record, the minutes of the 
meeting held on 10 October  2024 
 

7 - 10 

7   
 

Little London 
and 
Woodhouse 

 APPLICATION 22-07525-FU - 42 THE 
HEADROW, LEEDS, LS1 8HZ 
 
To receive and consider the attached report of the 
Chief Planning Officer regarding an application for 
the change of use with exception of ground floor 
retail units, to co-living (sui generis) and associated 
external alterations. 
 
 

11 - 
54 

8   
 

Little London 
and 
Woodhouse 

 PRE-APPLICATION -24-00331 - WELLINGTON 
PLACE, LEEDS, LS1 4AP 
 
To receive and consider the attached report of the 
Chief Planning Officer regarding a pre-application 
presentation for the erection of an office building 
and ground floor commercial units. 
 

55 - 
70 

9   
 

  DATE AND TIME OF NEXT MEETING 
 
Thursday, 5 December 2024 at 1.30 p.m. 
 

 

Third Party Recording  
 
Recording of this meeting is allowed to enable those not present to see or hear the proceedings either as they take place (or later) and 
to enable the reporting of those proceedings.  A copy of the recording protocol is available from the contacts named on the front of this 
agenda. 
 



 

 

Item 
No 

Ward Item Not 
Open 

 Page 
No 

Use of Recordings by Third Parties– code of practice 
 

a) Any published recording should be accompanied by a statement of when and where the recording was made, the context of 
the discussion that took place, and a clear identification of the main speakers and their role or title. 

b) Those making recordings must not edit the recording in a way that could lead to misinterpretation or misrepresentation of the 
proceedings or comments made by attendees.  In particular there should be no internal editing of published extracts; 
recordings may start at any point and end at any point but the material between those points must be complete. 



 
 
 

 Planning Services  
  
 Ninth Floor East   
 Merrion House 
 110 Merrion Centre 
 Leeds LS2 8BB 
 
 Contact:  Daljit Singh  
 Tel:  0113  3787971 
 daljit.singh@leeds.gov.uk 

                                                                
 Our ref:  City Site Visits  
 Date:  25.10.2024 
Dear Councillor 
 
SITE VISITS – CITY PLANS PANEL – Thursday 7th November 2024 
 

It has been agreed with the Chair of City Plans Panel to undertake site visits on the morning 
of the next City Plans Panel meeting.  
 
As well as visits to the sites which have related reports on the panel agenda, the Chair has 
also agreed to a request by the operator and architect of the “Tribeka” student housing 
scheme at Cookridge Street to view the completed development. In particular this will be an 
opportunity for those Members that could not attend the recent visit to the “Scape” 
development on Merrion Street to visit another development that was agreed at Panel.    
 
A 16 seater minibus has been booked for the site visits.  To check numbers please can 
Members contact PlansPanel@leeds.gov.uk as soon as possible if they wish to travel via the 
minibus.  
 
For those travelling by mini-bus please meet in the Ante-Chamber, Civic Hall at 9.25am for 
a prompt start at 9.30am.  
  
 

Time Ward  Site 

9.30 am  
 

MINIBUS DEPARTS FROM OUTSIDE CIVIC HALL ENTRANCE  

9.40-10.10 Hunslet & Riverside Pre-Application reference PREAPP/24/00331 – Erection of 
office building with associated landscaping and ground floor 
commercial units at Wellington Place, Leeds, LS1 4AP 
 

10.20-
10.50 

Little London & 
Woodhouse 

Application reference 22/07525/FU - Change of use with 
exception of ground floor retail units, to Co-Living (sui 
generis) and associated external alterations at 42 The 
Headrow, Leeds LS1 8HZ 

To all Members of City Plans Panel 

Page 5

mailto:PlansPanel@leeds.gov.uk


 
 
 

11.0 -12 Little London & 
Woodhouse 

Opportunity to visit the completed student housing at 
Tribeka, Cookridge Street, Leeds (site of former Leeds 
College of Technology) 

 
Please notify  PlansPanel@leeds.gov.uk if you will be attending.  
 
Yours sincerely 
 
 
Daljit Singh 
Group Manager 
Planning Services 
 
 
 

Page 6

mailto:PlansPanel@leeds.gov.uk


Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Thursday, 7th November, 2024 

 

CITY PLANS PANEL 
 

THURSDAY, 10TH OCTOBER, 2024 
 

PRESENT: 
 

Councillor J Heselwood in the Chair 

 Councillors C Campbell, B Anderson, 
P Carlill, D Cohen, K Dye, A Khan, 
A Maloney, J Garvani and Jones 

 
 
 

9 Appeals Against Refusal of Inspection of Documents  
 

There were no appeals. 
 

10 Exempt Information - Possible Exclusion of Press and Public  
 

There were no exempt items. 
 

11 Late Items  
 

There were no formal late items. However, supplementary information was 
published on the council’s website and distributed to Panel Members. Minute 
No. 15 refers. 
 

12 Declaration of Interests  
 

No interests were raised. 
 

13 Apologies for Absence  
 

Apologies of absence were received on behalf of Councillor K Brooks. 
Councillor R Jones attended as a substitute. 
 

14 Minutes - 12 September 2024  
 

RESOLVED – That the minutes of the previous meeting held on Thursday, 
12th September 2024, be approved as an accurate record. 
 

15 Application 24/02803/RM - 71-73 Mabgate, Sheepscar, Leeds, LS9 7DR  
 

Further to the minutes of the previous City Plans Panel meeting held on 
Thursday, 12th September 2024, members considered the report of the Chief 
Planning Officer which presented proposals for matters in relation to 
appearance, landscaping, layout, scale, and access pursuant to planning 
permission 22/03514/FU for the construction of three buildings comprising 
apartments and ancillary space, commercial units, and landscaping at 71 - 73 
Mabgate, Sheepscar, LS9 7DR. 
 

Page 7

Agenda Item 6



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Thursday, 7th November, 2024 

 

The report included further information on the proposed content of the 
welcome pack that would be provided to future residents and further 
information on how any noise complaints would be dealt with by the Council 
as requested at the 12th of September 2024 City Plans Panel meeting. The 
report recommended to the Panel that the applications be deferred and 
delegated to the Chief Planning Officer for Reserved Matters approval, 
subject to conditions, as set out in the submitted report and appendices. 
 
Supplementary information was published on the council’s website and 
distributed to members in respect of additional representations received. 
 
Slides and photographs of the site and proposals were presented by the 
Planning Officer who outlined the additional details relating to the proposed 
welcome pack and the process for addressing any noise complaints.  
 
It was noted that since publication of the submitted report, a further letter of 
objection and a signed petition was received. Both of which did not raise any 
new material considerations that haven’t already been addressed in the 
submitted report. 
 
Questions and comments from Panel Members then followed, with officers 
responding to the questions raised, which included the following: 

 Confirmation that occupiers will receive a welcome pack when they 
take up occupancy and prospective residents will be made aware of 
the nature of events at MAP prior to taking up occupancy. Additionally, 
it was noted that the full details of the welcome pack including 
arrangements relating to the residents information app  will have to be 
agreed by the Local Planning Authority prior to occupation of the 
development. 

 Clarity on the legal interpretation of statutory nuisance under the 
Environmental Protection Act 1990 

 Confirmation that any future who owner of the proposed development 
wanting to utilise the planning permission  , will be bound by the same 
planning conditions (including the one relating to the welcome pack)  

 Panel Members are satisfied with the further information provided 
regarding the residents welcome pack and arrangements for 
addressing any noise complaints. 

 
Upon voting, a motion was put forward to move the officer recommendations, 
as per the submitted report. This was moved and seconded, and it was 
unanimously 
RESOLVED – That the application be deferred and delegated to the Chief 
Planning Officer for approval, subject to the conditions as contained in the 
submitted report and Appendix 1. 
 
(Cllr Khan arrived during discussion of this item, at 13:42) 
 

16 Date and Time of Next Meeting  
 

Page 8



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Thursday, 7th November, 2024 

 

RESOLVED – To note the date and time of the next meeting as Thursday, 7th 
November 2024 at 1.30pm. 
 
The meeting concluded at 13:57. 
 
WEBCAST OF THE MEETING 
 
To access the link to the webcast, please click on the following: Plans Panels 
- YouTube. 
 

Page 9

https://www.youtube.com/playlist?list=PLPjmOAZpvCo9FmcVCJ5a68TMGKdJsNEfz
https://www.youtube.com/playlist?list=PLPjmOAZpvCo9FmcVCJ5a68TMGKdJsNEfz


This page is intentionally left blank



 
Report of the Chief Planning Officer 
 
CITY PLANS PANEL  
 
7th November 2024 
 
Change of use with exception of ground floor retail units, to Co-Living (sui generis) and 
associated external alterations, 42 The Headrow, Leeds LS1 8HZ  
 
Applicant – Watkin Jones Group and Direct Line Reference – 22/07525/FU 
 
Date valid – 9th November 2022  Target date 15th November 2024
        
 

        
 
 
RECOMMENDATION: DEFER and DELEGATE to the Chief Planning Officer for 
approval subject to the specified conditions set out in Appendix 2 (and any 
amendment to these and addition of others which he might consider appropriate) and 
the completion of a Section 106 agreement to include the following obligations (all 
contributions to be index linked): 
 
- Affordable housing provision – commuted sum in lieu of on-site provision 
£2,454,874.81; 
-  Compliance with agreed Travel Plan measures and a travel plan review fee of £4,461; 
-  Residential travel plan fund £59,765.50; 
-  Contribution of £31,415 per each pay and display space lost resulting from loss of 
pay and display revenue; 
-  £10,000 Traffic Regulation Order; 
-  Local employment and training initiatives; and 
-  Section 106 management fee £2,100. 
 
In the circumstances where the Section 106 Agreement has not been completed 
within 3 months of the resolution to grant planning permission, the final 
determination of the application shall be delegated to the Chief Planning Officer. 
 

 

Electoral Wards Affected:  
 
Little London and Woodhouse 
 

Specific Implications For:  
 
Equality and Diversity 
  
Community Cohesion 
 
Narrowing the Gap 

 

 
 
 
 

Originator: Tim Hart 
 
Tel: 3788034 

 Ward Members consulted  Yes  

Page 11

Agenda Item 7



1.0 Introduction 
 

1.1 This development primarily involves the conversion of the office space above ground 
floor level of Headrow House into 230 co-living studios.  The offices were vacated by 
Direct Line in August 2021 and have been vacant since that time.  Co-living is an 
emerging form of long-term, residential accommodation within the housing market, 
and although there are some operational schemes in London, co-living is still relatively 
new to most Core Cities.  The product is targeted at the recent graduate market; 
consultancy-type workers who only need to be in a particular location for a few months; 
key workers who work in City Centres, and also recent incomers to cities who don’t 
necessarily want to rent on their own or know anyone to house share with.  Occupancy 
in co-living schemes is not restricted to particular groups as is the case in student and 
key worker accommodation.  

 
1.2 Co-living is not a fixed product but rather a spectrum of different approaches which 

use a similar model of studio units within a wider scheme with a range of 
amenity/shared facility provision for residents.  There is not a dedicated Use Class 
within the Use Classes Order for co-living and, as such, co-living use is a sui generis 
use (without a Use Class).  Designs of different schemes differ e.g. some studios have 
kitchenette facilities within the studio, others do not.  Shared amenity spaces are also 
distributed differently depending on the operator. 

 
1.3 Although there are differences between different types of co-living there are some 

general characteristics which can point towards a co-living use: 
 

• Purpose-built shared living model aiming to provide a high standard of 
accommodation 

• Residents have a private room/studio (typically en-suite) within a larger 
development which includes range of shared facilities (including kitchens, dining 
rooms, social spaces, workspaces, social spaces etc.) 

• Residents rely on and are actively encouraged to use shared facilities as part of 
the overall management and shared living approach 

• There is a single management regime and operator, on-site concierge / 
management services, flexible tenancies, all-inclusive rent for utilities and 
access to services 

• Generally, co-living schemes are situated within town and city centres that are 
close to employment hubs and concentrations and near to transport networks. 

 
1.4 Members will recall the presentation of the pre-application proposals for the site to City 

Plans Panel on 14th July 2022.  In general, Members:  
 

• were supportive of the re-use of the building but felt that more information was 
needed before they could support the principle of co-living and the residential 
amenity offered by the development; and 

• agreed that a financial contribution was the most appropriate solution with regard 
to affordable housing provision. 

 
A copy of the minutes of that meeting is attached at Appendix 1.  Since the pre-
application proposals were considered the number of proposed co-living studios has 
reduced by 2 whilst areas of internal amenity space have increased, including an area 
of previously proposed external space in the well in the centre of the building covered 
over to provide additional internal amenity space; additional communal spaces added 
and areas for personal storage provided within the basement. 

 

Page 12



1.5 The average size of the proposed studios within the Headrow House development 
would be 28.5sqm, with the smallest unit being 27sqm.  However, the private studios 
would be supported by significant areas of shared facilities.  These facilities would 
include 19 shared kitchens; 793sqm of shared internal amenity space laid out as 
lounge areas, private dining, co-working space, a social hub, library, study areas and 
laundries; plus storage facilities (346.3sqm) and also a gym (115.9sqm).  External 
amenity space in the form of two resident’s roof gardens, cumulatively 589sqm, would 
be provided at levels 4 and 10 of the building.  Bike and bin storage would also be 
provided within the building and space provided in the basement for disabled parking.  
Consequently, notwithstanding the size of the studios themselves, by virtue of the 
extent, type and distribution of amenity spaces throughout the building, it is considered 
that the level of amenity, as a whole, would be acceptable for residents.  

 
1.6 A Co-living Position Paper was published in November 2023.  The Paper sets out the 

key issues in considering the acceptability of co-living schemes in Leeds and 
references the key Local Plan policies that will be applied to such proposals.  These 
include the requirement for the development to provide for affordable housing, most 
likely by way of a commuted sum.  A commuted sum (£2,454,874.81) has been 
calculated by the District Valuation Service (the “DVS”) on behalf of the Council and 
recently agreed by the applicant.   

 
1.7 The application is brought to City Plans Panel for determination following consultation 

with the Chair of City Plans Panel and her consideration that the application should be 
referred to Panel because of its significance as a new residential model for Leeds 
(pursuant to exception 1(g) of the Officer Delegation Scheme); and due to Panels’ 
previous interest in and comments on the development.   
 

2.0 Site and surroundings 
 
2.1 Headrow House is located in the heart of the City Centre on the north-east corner of 

the junction of The Headrow and Albion Street.  It is a red brick and Portland stone 
building completed in 1955.  The building was the final building to be constructed on 
the north side of The Headrow following the classical orders and style of the Blomfield 
scheme which commenced in 1929.  The building is ten storeys in height and is taller 
than its neighbours such as Permanent House and Headrow Buildings (Grade II listed) 
to the west and Broadgate (formerly Lewis’s) beyond Dortmund Square to the east.  
The south-east and south-west corners of the building are chamfered in common with 
many of buildings in the Blomfield scheme.  The rear of the building facing north is 
less ornate than other elevations and a lightweight curtain-wall extension was added 
to the centre of the building during the 1990’s. 

 
2.2 The primary entrance into Headrow House is from the north-east corner of the building 

from Dortmund Square.  It was last occupied as offices by the Direct Line Group until 
they vacated the premises in 2021.  There are several commercial units at ground 
floor (28-36 The Headrow) with entrances onto The Headrow and active shopfronts 
extending around onto the east and west elevations, albeit the Halifax closed in March 
2023.  The northern ground floor elevation fronting Wormald Row contains service 
accesses, fire exits and an entrance to the basement car park. St John’s Centre is 
located to the north of Wormald Row with the access to the centre’s service yard 
located midway along the northern side of the street. 

 
2.3 The southern elevation of Headrow House faces the extensive Leeds Central Area 

conservation area which at this point runs along the centre of The Headrow.  Other 
than for Headrow Buildings other nearby listed buildings include 115 The Headrow, 
the former St. John’s Parish Room and St John’s Church, and Thornton’s Buildings.  

Page 13



There is a mix of retail, office and leisure uses in the area with residential 
accommodation located in the upper floors of some properties such as Basilica and 
K2.    

 
3.0 Proposals 
 
3.1 The upper floors of Headrow House would be converted to form 230 co-living studios 

with supporting areas of internal and external shared amenities.  Existing ground floor 
shops and offices would be unaffected by the development. 

 
3.2 The building benefits from a 4-level basement.  A new lift would be installed to connect 

the basement with the main entrance lobby at ground floor.  Whilst the scheme would 
be car free, 5 accessible parking spaces, fitted with electric vehicle charging points, 
would be provided within the basement for resident use.  Secure areas for storage of 
personal items would be distributed around the basement levels, cumulatively 
346.3sqm.  There would also be storage facilities for 255 bicycles for residents, 23 
short stay bike spaces for visitors and 5 staff cycle parking bays within the basement.  
A resident’s gym (115.9sqm) would be formed within basement level -1; a social space 
(284.3sqm) comprising a lounge, screening area and event space would be formed 
within basement level -2; and a private dining space (67.7sqm) would be formed within 
basement level -3.  Remaining parking spaces within the basement would continue to 
be privately leased.  

 
3.3 The ground floor entrance from Dortmund Square would be refurbished.  New lighting 

and signage in a style complementary to the 1950’s aesthetic of the building would be 
installed over the entrance.  New automatic sliding doors would replace the existing 
revolving doors helping to improve accessibility into the building.  An accessible WC 
would be installed and a reception desk and concierge provided in the entrance lobby, 
with co-living management offices situated in the space beyond.  The refuse store 
fronting Wormald Row would be refurbished and reorganised and a new fire escape 
added with egress onto Wormald Row.  One of the two roller shutter vehicle accesses 
to the basement located at the corner of Wormald Row and Dortmund Square would 
be removed to enable the provision of additional fire escape exits for the residential 
floors above. 

 
3.4  The first floor of the building would be reconfigured to provide 23 studio apartments, 

each studio benefiting from at least two windows.  The studios, which would be located 
around the periphery of the building, would vary in size between 27.1sqm and 42.9 
sqm..  The average studio size on this floor would be 30.4sqm..  Two shared kitchens 
(21.1sqm and 36.2sqm) would be provided for residents of the floor.  Towards the 
centre of the building a shared internal lounge and co-working area (248.5sqm), the 
northern half of which would be triple height, would be provided for use by all residents. 

  
3.5 The second and third floors would have an identical layout, each containing 28 studios, 

varying in size from 27.0sqm to 41.2sqm.  The average studio size on these floors 
would be 28.6sqm..  Towards the centre of the building on each of these floors there 
would be two shared kitchens (28.2sqm and 28.5sqm); a laundry room (28.4sqm); and 
a shared amenity space which is currently proposed as a library / snug at second floor 
and cinema room at third floor (57.6sqm). 

  
3.6 The building mass reduces above the third floor facing Wormald Row.  25 studios are 

proposed at fourth floor, varying in size from 27.0sqm to 41.2sqm.  The average studio 
size on this floor would be 28.5sqm..  In common with floors below there would be two 
shared kitchens (27.4sqm and 28.5sqm), for residents of the floor.  A rooftop external 
amenity space (168.9sqm) would be located along the northern elevation adjacent to 

Page 14



Wormald Row accessed via a shared games’ room (20.7sqm) or directly from the 
circulation corridor. 

 
3.7 The fifth to seventh floors would share a common layout, each containing 26 studios, 

27-41.2sqm in area.  The average studio size on these floors would be 28.6sqm..  
Again, there would be two shared kitchens on each of these floors (28.2sqm and 
28.5sqm).  

 
3.8 The eighth and ninth floors of the building step in from the levels below.  Each would 

be reconfigured to provide 22 studios, varying in size from 27.0sqm to 32.3sqm.   The 
average studio size on these floors would be 28.3sqm..  4 rooms on level 8 would also 
have small external terraces.  In common with the floors below there would be two 
shared kitchens on each of these floors (28.2sqm and 28.5sqm).  

 
3.9 The existing rooftop plant room at tenth floor would be converted to form four 27.5sqm 

studios, each with an additional small, south-facing, external terrace.  A redundant lift 
room would be redesigned to form the shared kitchen (30.4sqm) for occupants of this 
level.  A rooftop garden for residents (420.6sqm) would be laid out towards the west 
and southern sides of the footplate.  Building plant would be located within a metal 
screened enclosure on the east limb of the rooftop.  

 
3.10  The 1990’s glazed façade on the north side of the building would be replaced with a 

new metal façade system with window proportions and datums designed to respond 
to the principal building.  The panels, which are likely to have a light bronze metallic 
finish, would have a stack bond arrangement with the longer vertical panels patterned 
to reference the textile heritage of the city.  All windows above ground floor of the 
building would be replaced within the existing openings both to improve energy 
performance and also to enable provision of both mechanical and natural ventilation 
to rooms.  A metal balustrade would be installed around the roof parapet to improve 
safety around the roof terrace.  The stonework and canopies around the lower levels 
of the building would be cleaned.   

 
3.11 Servicing of the co-living studios would take place from a new loading bay to be 

provided on the south side of Wormald Row.  6m of the loading bay could continue to 
be used as parking for disabled people during afternoon and evening periods.  A new 
parking space for blue badge holders would be provided on the north side of the street 
and another would be provided on Rossington Street or Percival Street.  The removal 
of one of the vehicle access points to the basement on the north-east corner of the 
building enables the provision of a new 2m wide section of footway across the 
redundant access point. 

 
3.12 In summary, the Headrow House co-living scheme would provide 230 studios, 

supported by 19 shared kitchens (540.5sqm), plus shared internal amenity space 
(793sqm), a gym (115.9sqm), storage areas for personal items (346.3sqm), and bike 
and bin storage areas.  There would also be 589.5sqm of shared external, roof terrace, 
amenity space.   

 
3.13 The development would be managed by Fresh, an integral part of the Watkin Jones 

Group.  The planning application is accompanied by a General Management Plan 
prepared by Fresh which confirms: 

 
• the details of the communal facilities that will be provided within the premises; 
• that all residents would sign an Assured Short Hold Tenancy Agreement (as 

prescribed by the Housing Act 1988) with all residents subject to appropriate 

Page 15



reference checks and Right to Rent checks prior to signing the Tenancy 
Agreement; 

• that the Residents’ Team will comprise a full time General Manager, Service 
Manager, Service Assistant, Engagement Assistant and a Maintenance 
Technician, and one part time Service Assistant who would support the general 
running of the property and have responsibility for organising and timetabling 
residents’ events and be a point of contact for reporting repairs, delivery and 
collection of parcels, resolving disputes and complaints, and providing general 
local information; 

• that the Residents’ Team will provide all residents with a welcome and induction 
session and a guide to living at the development.  The guide would contain 
information on how to report repairs and pay rent; on desirable behaviour in 
respect of: refuse disposal; noise levels; move in / move out arrangements; use 
of car parking spaces; policy and responsibility for visitors; use of communal 
areas; smoking policy; use of recreational drugs policy; and pet policy.  The 
document would also encourage good neighbourliness and would discourage 
any potential anti-social behaviour by residents; 

• that the Residents’ Team would be responsible for enforcing the Tenancy 
Agreement; 

• that the premises would be staffed 0800-2000 hours Monday to Friday with key 
times covered over weekends; 

• that the Residents’ Team would be supported by the off-site Central Services 
team who are specialists in marketing, finance, maintenance and health and 
safety; 

• the use of an integrated online resident portal and tenancy management system; 
• that the premises rental is fixed and is likely to include all utilities, council-tax, 

WiFi and all the properties amenities (other than laundry and storage space); 
and 

• details of the travel plan; waste and recycling plan; managing anti-social 
behaviour; and a sustainable living guide. 

 
4.0 Relevant planning history 
 
4.1 Planning permission for alterations and extensions to form new staircase and 

additional office space to the building was granted on 18th October 1991 
(H20/276/91/).  The approved works were carried out at that time. 

 
4.2  Development Plan Panel (DPP) considered an update on the Houses in Multiple 

Occupation, Purpose-Built Student Accommodation and Co-Living Amenity Standards 
draft SPD on 2nd November 2021.  A Co-Living Workshop for Members was held on 
2nd December 2021.   

 
4.3 Following a series of iterations and discussion at Development Plan Panel a Co-living 

Position Paper was published in November 2023.  The Paper sets out the key issues 
in considering the acceptability of co-living schemes in Leeds and references the key 
Local Plan policies that will be applied to such proposals. 

 
4.4 Some Panel Members visited an active co-living premises (Oppidan) in Manchester 

on 23rd October 2023.  Oppidan was a small, converted property comprising 15 
apartments ranging in size from 15sqm to 31sqm and offered very basic amenities, 
with a communal lounge, kitchen / diner and quiet study zone, supported by a house 
manager.  

 

Page 16



4.5 City Plans Panel considered pre-application proposals for the proposed Headrow 
House development on 14th July 2022 (PREAPP/21/00494).  A copy of the minutes of 
that meeting are attached at Appendix 1. 

 
4.6 Planning permission for a co-living scheme with associated communal facilities at 

Burley Library, 230 Cardigan Road, Leeds was refused planning permission on 30th 
May 2023 (21/08345/FU) due to concerns that the development would not provide 
acceptable living conditions for future residents.  In a subsequent appeal against the 
decision the Inspector confirmed that the existence of kitchenettes in each of the 
studios did not render them to be self-contained and also confirmed that the co-living 
units should not be subject to the strict application of CS Policy H9 and the NDSS.  In 
this case, whilst the average size of studios was just over 30sqm, the aggregated 
communal space increased the total amenity space for each resident to a minimum of 
38.4sqm..  The Inspector concluded that the co-living proposals would provide 
acceptable living conditions for future residents in terms of the provision of both private 
and communal living space and allowed the appeal in March 2024. 

 
4.7  City Plans Panel resolved to approve the planning application for a new-build 

development of 118 co-living units at Holdforth Court on 14th March 2024 
(22/04852/FU).  The smallest studio would be 37sqm and there would be 452sqm of 
communal space within the development.   

 
5.0  Public / local response 
 
5.1 Site notices advertising the application were erected around the site on 29th November 

2022 and the application was advertised in the Yorkshire Evening Post on 9th 
November 2022.  No objections have been received. 

 
5.2 One local resident supports the proposal for additional housing if used for people in 

need in the City Centre and providing that it is not used for student accommodation.  
 
5.3 The owners of St John’s Centre support the scheme as it would bring back into use a 

prominent city centre building and in doing so improve safety and security; increase 
footfall in the area benefitting local business; and provide an improved choice of city 
centre living.   

 
5.4 Town Centre Securities welcome the proposals and consider that the development 

would regenerate a prominent city centre building; increase footfall in the area thereby 
benefiting local businesses and improving safety and security in the area; and improve 
choice in city centre living, helping to attract and retain residents in Leeds. 

 
5.5 Leeds Civic Trust (LCT) has considered the application following on from two 

presentations during which LCT were generally supportive of the overall scheme's 
intentions in terms of brief, distribution, design and appearance.  LCT are pleased that 
some of the areas that they felt could be improved upon have been addressed in the 
application.  

 
LCT were concerned that the proposed window design departed from the existing 
pattern, but on close investigation, taking advantage of historical images, LCT 
understand that the proposed designs are closer in appearance to those that were 
originally installed when the building was constructed, whereas the existing windows 
are a more modern addition. 
 
 

 
Page 17



6.0 Consultation responses 
 
6.1 Statutory 
 
6.1.1 LCC Highways – no objections subject to conditions in respect of disabled parking 

provision; electric vehicle charging point provision; cycle parking provision; a car park 
and servicing management plan; waste storage provision; a highway condition survey; 
a statement of construction practice; and implementation of off-site highway works.  A 
sum of £31,415 contribution should be paid for each pay and display space lost; and 
£10,000 Traffic Regulation contribution to be secured within the section 106 
agreement.  

 
Response - conditions added and obligations included in the draft section 106 
agreement. 

 
6.1.2 Health and Safety Executive (fire)(HSE) – Following the submission of revised 

proposals HSE is satisfied with the fire safety design to the extent that it affects land 
use planning and is consequently content with the planning proposals. 

 
6.1.3 Coal Authority – do not object to the application as it does not appear that changes to 

the building would require any significant groundworks or new foundations.  An 
informative is recommended with regard to past coal mining activity.   

 
Response – an informative is proposed.  
 

6.2 Non-statutory 
 
6.2.1 LCC Environmental Studies (Transport Strategy) – On examination of Defra's strategic 

noise map, noise from road traffic is unlikely to be of a level that would require specific 
measures over and above standard building elements.  Therefore, in this case 
Transport Strategy do not require an acoustic assessment to be submitted. 

 
6.2.2 LCC Environmental Health (EH) – The submitted BRUKL report indicates that the 

studios should not be subject to overheating resulting from solar gain.  It is intended 
to ensure that internal noise levels resulting from mechanical ventilation falls within the 
target criteria identified in the noise assessment.  Blackout blinds would be installed 
to combat stray light from the St John Centre car park.  Additional internal sound 
insulation may be required, particularly where communal rooms directly abut studio 
accommodation or where there is potential for structural noise and vibration transfer.  
Conditions are recommended regarding the sound insulation scheme and to control 
the potential for late night noise from residents using the external terraces.   

 
Response – conditions proposed regarding sound insulation, use of the terraces and 
measures to prevent disturbance from light.   

 
6.2.3 LCC District Heating - The Leeds PIPES district heat network is on the north side of 

the Headrow such that a connection to the scheme could be done with a small degree 
of disruption.  Given the close proximity to the network and the likely substantial heat 
demand of the building, the cost and viability of a connection should be explored to 
ensure all options have been considered. 

 
Response – a condition is proposed confirming connection to the district heating 
network unless the network is no longer viable or appropriate.   

 

Page 18



6.2.4 LCC Influencing Travel Behaviour - The revised Travel Plan is acceptable.  An indexed 
travel plan review fee of £4,461 and a Residential travel plan fund of £59,765.50 
should be secured by the section 106 agreement.  Conditions should cover the 
provision of cycle parking and electric vehicle charging points.   

 
Response – the section 106 agreement will secure the travel plan review fee and the 
Residential travel plan fund.  The recommended conditions have been included in the 
draft conditions. 

 
6.2.5 LCC Flood Risk Management (FRM) – The application site is located within Flood 

Zone 1 and there have been no records of any recent flooding within the property or 
adjacent areas.  An initial review has also identified that there are no known flood risks 
which require specific mitigation and would impact on the proposed development. 

 
FRM have no objections to the proposed development as shown on the application as 
any internal building drainage modifications will be dealt with by the Building Inspector 
to ensure any drainage works comply with Part H of the Building Regulations. 

 
6.2.6 LCC Conservation - The major change to external appearance is the replacement of 

the existing windows with new windows with a different glazing pattern which will be 
an improvement as it will reintroduce a vertical emphasis to the fenestration.  It is also 
proposed to introduce a handrail to the parapet which may be visible from the ground 
and consideration should be given to moving it inboard.   

 
Response – a railing is required around the perimeter of the new rooftop amenity 
space for safety reasons.  Moving it inboard would result in a loss of space.  Details of 
the railing, to ensure that it has an appropriate form and appearance, would be agreed 
as part of the condition discharge process.  

 
6.2.7 LCC Nature Conservation – The application was supported by an Ecological Advice 

Note.  The development is acceptable subject to conditions in respect of protection of 
bats and birds and the provision of integral bat roosting and bird nesting features in 
the development.   

 
Response – conditions added. 

 
6.2.8 LCC Access – the proposals are acceptable subject to detailed design. 
 
6.2.9 LCC Children and Families – there would be no impact upon local school provision. 
 
6.2.10 West Yorkshire Police (WYP) – With management plans in place, including a resident 

team of managers and technicians, which would maintain the development WYP are 
happy with the proposals.   

 
Response – a condition regarding management plan implementation proposed. 

 
7.0 Policy  
 
7.1 Development Plan  
 
7.1.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires the 

application to be determined in accordance with the development plan unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise.  For the purposes of decision making for this 
proposal within the City Centre boundary, the Development Plan for Leeds currently 
comprises the following documents: 

Page 19



 
• The Leeds Core Strategy 2014 (as amended by the Core Strategy Selective 

Review 2019) 
• Saved UDP Policies (2006), included as Appendix 1 of the Core Strategy 
• The Natural Resources & Waste Local Plan (NRWLP, Adopted January 2013) 

including revised policies Minerals 13 and 14 (Adopted September 2015) 
• Site Allocations Plan (as amended 2024) 

 
No Neighbourhood Plans are applicable in this instance. 
 

7.2 Leeds Core Strategy (CS) 
 
7.2.1 The Core Strategy sets out the strategic level policies and vision to guide the delivery 

of development and the overall future of the district.  Relevant Core Strategy policies 
include: 
 
- Spatial Policy 1 prioritises the redevelopment of previously developed land in a way 

that respects and enhances the local character and identity of places and 
neighbourhoods.  

- Spatial Policy 3 seeks to maintain and enhance the role of the City Centre as an 
economic driver for the District and City Region by (iv) Comprehensively planning 
the redevelopment and re-use of vacant and under-used sites and buildings for 
mixed use development and new areas of public space. 

- Spatial Policy 8 supports a competitive local economy through (ii) enterprise and 
innovation in housing, leisure and tourism; (iii) Job retention and creation, promoting 
the need for a skilled workforce, educational attainment and reducing barriers to 
employment opportunities.  

- Policy CC1 outlines the planned growth within the City Centre.  Part B encourages 
residential development, providing that it does not prejudice town centre functions 
and provides a reasonable level of amenity for occupiers.  

- Policy CC3 states new development will need to provide and improve walking and 
cycling routes connecting the City Centre with adjoining neighbourhoods and 
improve connections within the City Centre.  

- Policy H2 indicates new housing will be acceptable in principle on non-allocated 
sites providing the number of dwellings does not exceed the capacity of transport, 
educational or health infrastructure. 

- Policy H3 states that housing development should meet or exceed 65 dwellings per 
hectare in the City Centre.  

- Policy H4 states that developments should include an appropriate mix of dwelling 
types and sizes to address needs measured over the long-term taking into account 
the nature of the development and character of the location.  

- Policy H5 identifies affordable housing requirements. 
- Policy H8 states developments of more than 49 dwellings should include support 

for Independent Living.  
- Policy H9 refers to minimum space standards in new dwellings.  
- Policy H10 identifies accessible housing standards. 
- EC3 Safeguards existing employment land. Change of use of sites last used in 

employment to other economic development uses, including town centre uses, or 
to non-employment uses will only be permitted where (i) the proposal would not 
result in the loss of a deliverable employment site; or (ii) existing buildings and land 
are considered to be non-viable in terms of market attractiveness, business 
operations, age, condition and or compatibility with adjacent uses; or (iii) the 
proposal will deliver a mixed use development which continues to provide for a 
range of local employment opportunities and would not undermine the viability of 
the remaining employment site. Page 20



- Policy P10 requires new development to be based on a thorough contextual 
analysis to provide good design appropriate to its scale and function, delivering high 
quality innovative design and that development protects and enhance the district’s 
historic assets in particular, historically and locally important buildings, skylines and 
views. 

- Policy P11 states that the historic environment and its settings will be conserved, 
particularly those elements which help to give Leeds its distinct identity. 

- Policies T1 and T2 identify transport management and accessibility requirements 
to ensure new development is adequately served by highways and public transport, 
and with safe and secure access for pedestrians, cyclists and people with impaired 
mobility. 

- Policy G9 states that development will need to demonstrate biodiversity 
improvements. 

- Policies EN1 and EN2 set targets for CO2 reduction and sustainable design and 
construction, and at least 10% low or zero carbon energy production on-site. 

- Policy EN4 states that where technically viable major developments should connect 
to district heating networks. 

- Policy EN5 identifies requirements to manage flood risk. 
- Policy EN8 identifies electric vehicle charging infrastructure requirements. 
- Policy ID2 outlines the Council’s approach to planning obligations and developer 

contributions. 
 

7.3 Saved Unitary Development Plan Review policies (UDPR)  
 
7.3.1 Relevant Saved Policies include:  
 

-  Policy GP5 states that all relevant planning considerations are to be resolved. 
-  Policy BD3 requires consideration of access provisions for disabled people. 
- Policy BD4 relates to provision for all mechanical plant on and servicing of new 

developments. 
-  Policy BD5 requires new buildings to consider both amenity for their own occupants 

and that of their surroundings including usable space, privacy and satisfactory 
daylight and sunlight. 

- Policy BD6 states alterations and extensions should respect the scale, form, 
detailing and materials of the original building. 

-  Policy N19 requires new buildings adjacent to conservation areas to preserve or 
enhance the character or appearance of the relevant areas. 

- Policy LD1 sets out criteria for landscape schemes. 
 

7.4 Natural Resources & Waste Local Plan (NRWLP) 
 
7.4.1 The NRWLP sets out where land is needed to enable the City to manage resources, 

like trees, minerals, waste, energy and water and identifies specific actions which will 
help use the natural resources in a more efficient way.   

 
7.4.2 Relevant policies include: 
 

- Air 1 states that all applications for major development will be required to 
incorporate low emission measures to ensure that the overall impact of proposals 
on air quality is mitigated.   

-   Water 1 requires water efficiency, including incorporation of sustainable drainage 
- Water 4 requires the consideration of flood risk issues 
- Water 6 requires flood risk assessments.   
-   Water 7 requires development not to increase surface water run-off and to 

introduce SUDS where feasible. 
Page 21



-   Land 1 requires consideration of land contamination issues. 
- Land 2 identifies the need to introduce new tree planting as part of creating high 

quality living and working environments and enhancing the public realm. 
 

7.5 Site Allocations Plan (SAP) 
 
7.5.1 The Site Allocations Plan 2019 (as amended 2024) was adopted by the council on the 

17 January 2024. 
 
7.5.2 The site is not identified in the SAP.  The SAP reviewed the boundary of the Primary 

Shopping Quarter and the primary and secondary frontages within it.  However, the 
shopping frontages policies are not directly affected by the proposed development.  
Dortmund Square immediately to the east of Headrow House building is identified as 
Green Space. 

 
7.6 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2023  

 
7.6.1 Paragraph 11 states that decisions should apply a presumption in favour of 

sustainable development. Permission should be granted unless the application of 
policies in the Framework provides a clear reason for refusing the development; or 
any adverse impacts of granting permission would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the Framework as a whole.  

 
7.6.2  Chapter 5 identifies guidance for the delivery of a sufficient supply of homes.  
 
7.6.3  Chapter 7 relates to measures to ensure the vitality of town centres to promote their 

long-term vitality and viability allowing them to grow and diversify, allowing a suitable 
mix of uses (including housing) and reflecting their distinctive characters.  

 
7.6.4  Chapter 8 promotes healthy and safe communities aiming to achieve healthy, inclusive 

and safe places.  Decisions should promote public safety and take into account wider 
security requirements (paragraph 101). 

 
7.6.5 Chapter 9 identifies measures to promote sustainable transport.  Paragraph 116 states 

that priority should be given to pedestrian and cycle movements; the needs of people 
with disabilities and reduced mobility addressed; creation of safe, secure and 
attractive spaces; allow for the efficient delivery of goods; and be designed to enable 
use by sustainable vehicles.   

 
7.6.6 Chapter 11 states that decisions should promote an effective use of land in meeting 

the need for homes and other uses, while safeguarding and improving the 
environment and ensuring safe and healthy living conditions (paragraph 128).  The 
importance of securing well-designed and beautiful, attractive and healthy places 
through planning policies and decisions is emphasised. 

 
7.6.7 Chapter 12 identifies the importance of well-designed places and the need for a 

consistent and high quality, beautiful and sustainable buildings and places.  Paragraph 
131 states that the creation of high-quality buildings and places is fundamental to what 
the planning and development process should achieve.  Good design is a key aspect 
of sustainable development, creates better places in which to live and work and helps 
make development acceptable to communities.  Paragraph 135 states that planning 
decisions should ensure that developments: 

 
a) will function well and add to the overall quality of the area, not just for the short term 
but over the lifetime of the development; 

Page 22



b) are visually attractive as a result of good architecture, layout and appropriate and 
effective landscaping; 
c) are sympathetic to local character and history, including the surrounding built 
environment and landscape setting, while not preventing or discouraging appropriate 
innovation or change (such as increased densities); 
d) establish or maintain a strong sense of place, using the arrangement of streets, 
spaces, building types and materials to create attractive, welcoming and distinctive 
places to live, work and visit; 
e) optimise the potential of the site to accommodate and sustain an appropriate 
amount and mix of development (including green and other public space) and support 
local facilities and transport networks; and 
f) create places that are safe, inclusive and accessible and which promote health and 
well-being, with a high standard of amenity for existing and future users and where 
crime and disorder, and the fear of crime, do not undermine the quality of life or 
community cohesion and resilience. 
 

7.6.8 Chapter 14 identifies the approach to meeting the climate change challenge.  New 
development should avoid increased vulnerability to the range of impacts arising from 
climate change and should be planned so as to help reduce greenhouse gas 
emissions, such as through its location, orientation and design (paragraph 159).   

 
7.6.9 Chapter 16 refers to the historic environment.  Paragraph 196 states that local 

planning authorities should take account of: 
 

a) the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage assets and 
putting them to viable uses consistent with their conservation;  
b) the positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets can make to 
sustainable communities including their economic vitality; and 
c) the desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local character 
and distinctiveness. 
 
Paragraph 205 states that “When considering the impact of a proposed development 
on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the 
asset’s conservation (and the more important the asset, the greater the weight should 
be).”  
 

7.7 National Planning Practice Guidance  
 
7.7.1 The Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) provides commentary on the application of 

policies within the NPPF.  The NPPG also provides guidance in relation to the 
imposition of planning conditions.  It sets out that conditions should only be imposed 
where they are necessary; relevant to planning and to the development to be 
permitted; enforceable; precise and reasonable in all other respects. 

 
7.7.2 Guidance is provided with regard to matters including air quality; biodiversity; climate 

change; design; effective use of land; fire safety; health and safe communities; historic 
environment; housing needs of different groups; housing supply and space standards; 
noise; town centres; travel plans; viability; waste and waste water.  

 
7.8 Supplementary planning guidance 
 

- Accessible Leeds SPD  
- Building for Tomorrow Today: Sustainable Design and Construction SPD 
- Neighbourhoods for Living SPG 
- City Centre Urban Design Strategy SPD 

Page 23



-  Transport SPD 
- Houses in Multiple Occupation, Purpose-Built Student Accommodation and Co-

Living Amenity Standards draft SPD.  On 2nd November 2021 Development Plan 
Panel agreed that the co-living chapter from the draft SPD would be removed and 
that officers would consider bringing forward policy for co-living as part of Leeds 
Local Plan 2040, the scoping consultation for which finished on 24th March 2023. 

 
7.9 Other material considerations 
 
7.9.1 S66(1) of the Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 provides 

that in considering whether to grant permission for development which affects a listed 
building or its setting, the local planning authority shall have special regard to the 
desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of special 
architectural or historic interest which it possesses.  As a consequence the desirability 
of preservation must be given considerable importance and weight in the decision 
making process.  In addition, section 72(1) of the Planning (Listed Building and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires special attention to be paid to the desirability 
of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of conservation areas. 

 
7.9.2 A Co-living Position Paper was published in November 2023.  The Paper sets out the 

key issues in considering the acceptability of co-living schemes in Leeds and 
references the key Local Plan policies that will be applied to such proposals.  Whilst it 
it does not carry weight in the decision-making process due to its unadopted planning 
status it is a useful guidance document for the assessment of co-living schemes in a 
consistent manner and with due regard to adopted residential policies. 

  
7.9.3 The Leeds Strategic Housing Market Assessment 2023/24 household survey 

identified that it was mainly older people interested in Co-housing/living.  Results from 
the stakeholder survey suggest that there is a clear suppressed demand for co-living 
in Leeds. Given the boom in PBSA and high retention rate of graduates to Leeds, 
recent graduates are increasingly seeking serviced accommodation with shared 
facilities, akin to student accommodation. Co-living, alongside Build to Rent with a 
strong amenity offer, in city centre or accessible locations on key transport corridors, 
would go some way to addressing this need. 

 
7.9.4 The Council declared a climate emergency on the 27th March 2019 in response to the 

UN’s report on Climate Change.  The Planning Act, alongside the Climate Change Act 
2008, sets out that climate mitigation and adaptation are central principles of plan-
making.  The NPPF makes clear that the planning system should help to shape places 
in ways that contribute to radical reductions in greenhouse gas emissions in line with 
the objectives of the Climate Change Act 2008.  As part of the Council’s Best City 
Ambition, the Council seeks to deliver a low-carbon and affordable transport network, 
as well as protecting nature and enhancing habitats for wildlife.  The Council’s 
Development Plan includes a number of planning policies which seek to meet this aim, 
as does the NPPF.  These are material planning considerations in determining 
planning applications 

 
8.0 Issues 

 
• Principle of the development 
• Co-living housing and residential amenity  
• Townscape, design and heritage 
• Transport and connectivity  
• Landscape, public realm and biodiversity 

Page 24



• Accessibility, equality and inclusion 
• Safety and security 
• Sustainability and Climate Change  
• Planning obligations and CIL 

 
9.0 Appraisal 
 
9.1 Principle of the development 
 
9.1.1 The existing retail and commercial units would be retained at ground floor maintaining 

an active frontage at this level of the building.  Above ground floor level, Headrow 
House comprises office space (Use Class E(c)) which was vacated by Direct Line 
during 2021.  CS Policy EC3 seeks to retain the office use unless certain criteria are 
satisfied.  Change of use of sites last used in employment to other economic 
development uses, including town centre uses, or to non-employment uses will only 
be permitted where (i) the proposal would not result in the loss of a deliverable 
employment site; or (ii) existing buildings and land are considered to be non-viable in 
terms of market attractiveness, business operations, age, condition and or 
compatibility with adjacent uses; or (iii) the proposal will deliver a mixed use 
development which continues to provide for a range of local employment opportunities 
and would not undermine the viability of the remaining employment site. 

 
9.1.2 Recent monitoring information shows the City has an adequate supply of potential 

office sites relative to the CS Policy SP9 requirement.  The Office Market Commentary 
report submitted with the application confirms this position, together with the significant 
difficulties in attracting a new office occupier to the premises which has now remained 
vacant for over 3 years.  Consequently, Part A(i) of the policy would be satisfied such 
that the loss of the office space could not be resisted. 

 
9.1.3 The site is located within the designated City Centre.  CS Policy CC1(b) encourages 

residential development in City Centre locations providing that the development does 
not prejudice the functions of the City Centre and that it provides a reasonable level 
of amenity for occupiers (see section 9.2 below).  The proposed co-living use is a form 
of long-term residential accommodation.  The development would deliver 230 studio 
apartments which would represent a useful contribution towards the Core Strategy’s 
aim to provide 8,052 (net) new homes within the City Centre over the plan period.   

 
9.1.4 Co-living is generally aimed at the 20 – 44 age group which in Leeds accounts for 37% 

of the city’s population, one of the highest groups of working-age renters.  Leeds 
household profile is weighted towards single and two-person households, accounting 
for 66% of the overall total.  Promoters of co-living state that the primary demand for 
co-living arises from the recent graduate market.   

 
9.1.5 Savills research on behalf of the applicant suggests that co-living housing meets a 

need that is not currently being satisfied in the City in that it allows for flexible lease 
terms; a more communal form of living; the convenient provision of services and 
facilities including utilities, WiFi, cleaning, alongside a concierge and security, all at an 
accessible price.  The report advises that there are over 32,000 people in the core 
target market already living in Leeds including graduates, corporate employees, 
international workers or people new to the city; downsizers and / or anyone who wants 
to live in a central, city centre, location.  As a result, Leeds City Centre is considered 
the primary location in the UK for co-living potential and development at the current 
time given the city’s demographics, the strength of the job market and as there are no 
co-living schemes presently being actively constructed in the city centre. 

 Page 25



9.1.6 Consequently, it is considered that the co-living use is acceptable in principle as a 
form of long-term residential accommodation subject to the considerations set out 
below.   

 
9.2 Co-living housing and residential amenity  
 
9.2.1 Co-living is an emerging form of residential accommodation within the housing market.  

There are examples in London and Manchester, and the applicant has recently 
opened schemes in Bristol and Exeter.  Whilst there are differences between different 
types of co-living, the primary intent is to provide a community-centred, safe and 
comfortable rental home for residents.  As noted in paragraph 2.4 of the Co-Living 
Technical Guidance Note, whilst there is a spectrum of approaches ‘day-to-day living 
is intended to be across the scheme as a whole rather than completely within the 
studios…indicating an intention to remove some elements of what would normally be 
expected to be found within a C3 dwelling house from within the self-contained studio 
and to provide these as communal facilities’.  Consequently, smaller private studios 
are expected in conjunction with plentiful and varied functional areas, such as 
kitchens, workspaces, social and amenity spaces.   

 
Space standards and residential amenity 

 
9.2.2 CS policy CC1(b) requires that residential development provides a reasonable level 

of amenity for its occupiers.  CS policy P10 and Saved UDPR polices BD5 and GP5 
identify general requirements that development should contribute positively towards 
quality of life and provide a reasonable level of amenity and useable space.  CS policy 
H9 requires all new dwellings to comply with the identified minimum space standards 
so as to create a healthy living environment.  In this regard, the minimum size of a one 
bed, one person, self-contained apartment identified in CS policy H9 is 37sqm if the 
apartment has a shower room.  The CS standards reflect the Nationally Described 
Space Standards which, in identifying the requirements, took into account all the 
space required for all furniture, fittings, activity and circulation space. 

 
9.2.3 Co-living intentionally takes a different approach to conventional C3 accommodation 

where households are self-contained, instead promoting integration and sharing of 
some spaces and facilities with other occupants both through active management and 
also through limiting the facilities provided within the private spaces.  In Headrow 
House it is intended to establish a sustainable and thriving community centred on the 
development of smaller social groups and areas where residents are able to familiarise 
themselves and interact with smaller groups of people, who are part of the wider 
building’s community.  The establishment of ‘village’ clusters on each floor centred on 
a shared living/kitchen/dining space is a dynamic evolution of the structure operated 
in Purpose Built Student Accommodation (PBSA) clusters, which can be used in a 
much more flexible and organic way.  Residents are not obliged, but are encouraged, 
to use the facilities on their respective floors.  The careful placement of amenity and 
shared functions encourages residents to travel to certain parts of the building to enjoy 
the benefits of these shared spaces, establishing a fluidity and integration of people 
and communities.  Establishing points of critical mass, supported by points for chance 
encounters and more organic interactions becomes an additional layer within which 
the social framework would be developed throughout the building. 

 
9.2.4 The minimum size of a studio in the Headrow House development has been 

determined partly by the existing structure and building bay modules, but primarily 
through a forensic review of the basic living functions required for sole occupancy 
within a studio.  The main development within the studio design from the pre-
application consultation period to the current proposals, related to the inclusion of a 

Page 26



larger living area, as well as enabling opportunities for residents to comfortably work 
from home in their studios.  The proposed studios would incorporate the following key 
features: 

 
• Kitchenette for cooking  
• En-suite WC and shower room  
• Social / soft seating for at least 2 people  
• Dining area for at least 2 people 
• Space for a double bed  
• Suitable storage 
 
Studio kitchenette 
 

9.2.5 While co-living places a large significance on the provision of communal amenity 
spaces and mechanisms around facilitating social environments, the studios need a 
degree of independence and self-sufficiency to create an environment to which 
residents are able to retreat and use as needed.  The nature of kitchen provision has 
consequently been carefully developed in response to usability and in relation to 
overall studio sizes and the allocation of space within the studios to other important 
living functions.  The nature of the studio cooking provision has also been balanced 
and considered against the shared kitchen provision.  This arrangement ensures that 
a basic level of cooking can be undertaken within the studios whilst anything needing 
more advanced equipment can be undertaken in the more diversely provisioned 
shared kitchen areas provided on each floor.  A 2-ring hob would be provided as four 
plates are rarely used in a single-person setting.  The kitchenette would also have a 
small combi cooker, sink and two waste bins.   Storage is important to a usable kitchen, 
and the studio kitchens have been provided with a wide range of storage areas and 
types, including a fridge-freezer, which would be supported by further storage and 
fridges in the shared kitchen.  3 low-level cupboards, 3 open shelves, 2 high level 
cupboards and 4 drawers would also be provided for kitchen storage in each studio 
kitchenette.  Other facilities that may be typically found in a kitchen in a conventional 
apartment would be provided elsewhere within the development.  For example, 
washing machines would be provided in the proposed central laundry rooms whilst 
individual hot water cylinders would be replaced by the central heating system for the 
building.  
 
Studio ensuite shower rooms 
 

9.2.6 The studio ensuite requirements have been developed following extensive 
consultation with Fresh who manage residential buildings across Watkin Jones’ 
portfolio, as well as feedback from residents within PBSA and Build to Rent 
developments.   
 

9.2.7 The shower has been a driving factor in the size and proportions of the bathroom.  
User feedback has suggested that rectangular showers are preferable to square 
showers such that the proposed showers are sized at 1200 mm x 850m, 80% larger 
than the minimum requirement identified in the Housing Standards Handbook 
produced by the National Housing Federation.  The shower rooms would also 
incorporate a good-sized vanity and mirror unit for personal storage.  The ensuite 
would include a 750mm clear zone in front of the WC which provides sufficient space 
for changing / dressing within the ensuite area. 

 
 
 
   

Page 27



Studio living area 
 
9.2.8 The social and living space would include a two-person settee and coffee table; a fold-

down dining table with two chairs which could also double as a workspace; a large TV; 
low level storage units, a bookcase and a storage cabinet.  The sleeping area would 
be fitted with a double bed designed with a base beneath to provide storage space for 
large items such as suitcases.  There would be full access around three sides of the 
bed.  The dressing area would contain full height wardrobes.  
 

9.2.9 In combining the basic private amenity requirements identified above the smallest, and 
most common, studio size in the Headrow House development would be 27sqm whilst 
the largest, with more circulation space and storage, would be 42sqm.  

 
 Area Number 
Type 1 27-28sqm 130 
Type 2 28-30sqm 67 
Type 3 30-32sqm 14 
Type 4 (wheelchair accessible) >32sqm 19 
  230 

 
Illustrative rendered images of a typical studio 

 

Page 28



 
 
Shared amenity areas and facilities (internal) 

 
9.2.10 There would be two shared kitchens (each typically 27-28sqm) on each of the 

residential floors other than the five Level 10 rooftop studios which would share a 
single kitchen (30sqm).  Travel distances between studios and shared kitchens would 
be limited to a maximum of 27m.  Each shared kitchen would have a series of 
workbenches allowing several residents to cook at any one time.  In a typical kitchen 
there would be 3 sinks; a dishwasher, three 4-ring hobs with an oven below; a full 
height fridge; a preparation island; wall storage; bins and a dining area.   Seating for 
10-12 people would enable the majority of a cluster to sit and dine together if desired.  
The provision of flexible seating would also allow the shared area to be used as social 
space during times when it is not being used for cooking, whilst locating the seating 
alongside the windows would provide an alternative space for residents to work during 
the day, or even socialise generally.  The space could also be used as a gathering 
space for small events. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 29



Indicative view of a typical shared kitchen and dining space  

 
 
9.2.11 The primary amenity space provided at first floor level (248.5sqm) would comprise a 

triple height open plan space with lounge and co-working areas.  By adjoining lounge 
and co-working areas, the spaces could be used flexibly throughout the day as 
resident requirements change.  Co-working spaces could be used for work during 
weekdays with the lounge areas used as break out, and subsequently used for 
studying, reading or social activities in the evenings.  A centrally-located feature stair 
would provide direct access to amenity levels on upper floors. 

 
Illustrative view of first floor atrium space

 
 

Page 30



9.2.12 Smaller amenity hubs on levels 2 and 3 (each 57sqm) would provide a library / snug 
area and a cinema room.  The lounge could be used to relax and socialise, read or 
study, whilst the cinema room could be used for the screening of films or sporting 
events, or by an event organiser to host events for residents.  A games’ room would 
be provided on level 4 (20sqm) supplemented by smaller gaming areas throughout 
the development to encourage engagement and activity. 

 
9.2.13 Levels 2 and 3 would also provide shared laundry rooms, each 28sqm.  The laundry 

rooms would include 10 washing machines and 10 dryers with 9 double-stacked and 
1 of each located on ground level for accessibility.  The laundries would include ironing 
facilities and games provision for residents who would like to wait within the space.  
Being located alongside other shared amenity areas would enable residents to make 
use of adjacent amenity space while running laundry cycles and vice-versa. 

 
9.2.14 A series of facilities are proposed for residents within the extensive basement of the 

building.   These include a social space (284.3sqm) comprising a lounge, screening 
area and event space; a private dining facility (67.7sqm) which could be used at other 
times for co-working and / or meetings; and a residents’ gym (115.9sqm) designed to 
accommodate 10% of the residents at any one time.  In addition, the basement would 
provide 5 disabled person parking spaces; storage facilities for 283 bicycles; and 
secure, rentable, areas (346.3sqm) for storage of personal items.      

 
9.2.15  In total, there would be 1,795sqm of internal shared amenity space for the 230 

residents comprising the following: 
 

• 19 shared kitchens (540.5sqm) 
• Amenity areas including lounges, co-working and social spaces (793sqm) 
• Storage (346.3sqm) 
• Gym (115.9sm) 

 
Bicycle storage, bin storage and car parking areas would be provided in addition to 
the areas identified above. 

 
Shared amenity space (external) 

 
9.2.16 The existing roofspaces of the building contain extensive areas of plant.  It is intended 

to relocate the majority of plant to lower basement levels thereby freeing up areas for 
external amenity spaces.  

  
9.2.17 The Headrow House co-living development would provide 2 areas of external amenity 

space for residents cumulatively comprising 589sqm.  The fourth floor area would 
provide larger spaces for gathering and group activities / classes.  It would be divided 
into two larger spaces rather than a single open area, defined by planted edges with 
the use of taller shrubs to provide visual separation and enclosure for the feeling of 
increased privacy, particularly as a number of studios above would overlook the 
space.  The use of taller planting and shrubs to the southern edge would define a more 
intimate space for smaller groups while providing screening for the studios on the 
fourth floor that face towards the roof area.  A single studio located directly alongside 
the amenity area would have a private terrace area with planting used to create 
defensible space and to provide improved privacy. 

 
 
 
   
 Page 31



Illustrative fourth floor external amenity space 

 
 
9.2.18 The level 10 rooftop amenity space positioned along the southern and western edges 

of the building would provide a sequence of larger and smaller spaces with seating 
and outdoor dining areas, and areas of cover enabling different activities to take place 
simultaneously. 

 
Illustrative tenth floor external amenity space 

 
 

Management 
 
9.2.19 The developer has submitted a management plan which sets out how the operator 

would provide a full management service at Headrow House including tenancy 
management, property management, health and safety and maintenance.  The on-
site Residents’ Team would comprise a full time general manager, service assistant, 
engagement assistant and a maintenance technician, and one part-time service 
assistant to support general running of the property.  Security personnel will cover 
evenings 7 days a week through a call out centre, with on-site staff being present at 
all other times. 

 
9.2.20 The Residents’ Team would be responsible for organising and timetabling residents’ 

events such as movie nights, book clubs, quiz nights and cultural celebrations.  
Community wellbeing would also be promoted by an active on-site gym, with wellbeing 
and fitness classes, educational classes and clubs.  Roof terraces and social spaces 
managed through a community engagement programme would aid social cohesion.  
All these facilities and events would be available at no extra charge for residents to 

Page 32



socialise and interact with one another, which is considered to be a critical aspect of 
the co-living model. 

 
9.2.21 The co-living studios would typically be located around the periphery of the building.  

Each studio would have a minimum of two windows with views out across The 
Headrow, Albion Street, Wormald Row or Dortmund Square.  The narrowest 
dimension would be 13.4m across Albion Street to Headrow Buildings and The Light 
which, given the relative scale and juxtaposition of the properties and the established 
dense urban grain, would allow an acceptable outlook and daylighting from residents’ 
private studios, when supplemented by the amenity spaces spread around the 
building. 

 
9.2.22 Whilst recognising that every co-living scheme will be different, Paragraph 4.9 of the 

Co-Living position paper encourages private space to be as close as possible to the 
Nationally Described Space Standards (NDSS), suggesting that consideration will be 
given to the quantum of communal space based on aggregating out the shortfall of the 
private studio size against the NDSS.   

 
9.2.23 In this case the average size of the private studios would be 28.5sqm.  A total of 

1680sqm. of internal communal space would be provided to meet what can reasonably 
considered to be day to day living needs (excluding the proposed gym space and bike 
storage).  In addition, 589sqm. of communal external garden areas would be provided 
which, due to their upper floor location and sense of privacy, would also be attractive 
spaces for meeting day to day living needs for socialising and relaxing or even working 
from home during fine weather.  This would give access to 38.3sqm of aggregated 
private and communal space for each resident (with the external garden areas 
included) and 35.8sqm of aggregated space for each resident (excluding the garden 
areas).   

 
9.2.24 Without including the external areas, the bike storage areas or the gym, the 

aggregated space would be 1.2sqm less, on average, than the NDSS minimum 
standard of 37sqm for a single person flat.  However, it is recognised that not all 
residents will want to use the communal spaces at the same time.  Paragraph 4.9 of 
the Co-Living position paper states that “key to the consideration of (space standards) 
is the location, distribution, amenity, and quality of the communal spaces.”   In this 
regard, through a combination of the quality of the private space and amenities 
provided within the studios, the extensive nature, quality and distribution of the shared 
amenity spaces and facilities provided within the building (so that they are considered 
readily accessible to the residents) and the professional on-site management and 
maintenance of the building, it is considered that the co-living community within the 
proposed development would experience and have access to an acceptable level of 
amenity to meet day to day living needs.   Given this balance it is also considered 
appropriate to limit the maximum resident occupancy of the building to 230 at any one 
time by planning condition as more intensive occupation would give rise to the need 
for larger private spaces and increased demands on the communal spaces. 

 
Relationship to neighbours 

 
9.2.25 The internal layout of the building has been designed specifically to create usable 

communal spaces for residents as well as providing private space.  The lower levels 
of the building are generally set aside for use as communal space but there are some 
communal elements interspersed with the studios. Where private accommodation 
uses abut communal areas, higher specification sound insulation may be required 
between them.  Similarly, studios adjacent to, or overlooking the roof terraces may be 
subject to more noise dependent on the occupancy and use of these spaces.  To 

Page 33



prevent night-time disturbance, it is recommended to restrict access to these areas 
late in the evening as well as controlling the use of external speakers by planning 
condition.  Residents would also be subject to the tenancy agreement which would be 
enforced by the Residents’ Team and management in the event of any anti-social 
behaviour occurring. 

 
9.2.26 To prevent loss of amenity from noise sources beyond Headrow House, the developer 

has designed a scheme which requires that windows remain closed.  Doing this allows 
the rooms to achieve the internal noise levels that allow occupants to sleep 
undisturbed.  Occupants would have the ability to open windows for purge ventilation, 
whilst the identified ventilation strategy ensures that the studios would not be 
adversely affected by overheating. 

 
9.2.27 To enable the development and maintenance of cohesive communities within the 

development and to avoid impacts that could arise from short term accommodation 
that is more typical of hotel, hostel or “Airbnb” accommodation, a planning condition is 
proposed to ensure that the minimum tenancy is at least three months. 

 
Other considerations 

 
9.2.28 As a form of long-term residential accommodation, as recognised by the Co-Living   

Position Paper, it is considered that the proposals should be reviewed against the 
Council’s existing policies for new residential accommodation.   

 
9.2.29   As the site is not allocated for housing development in the SAP the number of dwellings 

should not exceed the capacity of transport, educational or health infrastructure as 
existing or provided as a condition of the development and should also accord with 
the identified accessibility requirements (CS policy H2).  In this respect, as the 
development would not accommodate families Children’s Services has confirmed that 
there would be no impact upon local school provision.   

 
9.2.30 The development would be in the catchment area of 6 GP Practices within a 1-mile 

radius of the development.  Of these, 1 is not accepting new patients (Carlton Gardens 
Surgery) and another (Leeds Student Medical Practice) specialises in caring for the 
students of Leeds and their dependants sharing the same address while in Leeds. 
This means that the spread would be across 4 practices which, whilst busy, are 
accepting new patients at the current time such that the development would not 
exceed the capacity of health infrastructure in the area. Transport and accessibility 
issues are considered in section 9.4 below. 

 
Density 

 
9.2.31 CS Policy H3 requires housing developments in the City Centre to meet or exceed 65 

dwellings per hectare.  The proposals identify 230 residential studios on a site area of 
0.18ha thereby significantly exceeding the minimum policy requirement and making 
efficient use of brownfield land in a highly sustainable City Centre location. 

 
Housing mix 

 
9.2.32 CS Policy H4 aims to ensure that new housing delivered in Leeds provides an 

appropriate mix of dwelling types and sizes to address needs measured over the long-
term taking account of preferences and demand in different parts of the city.  With this 
in mind the policy is worded to offer flexibility.  Due to the denser character of the City 
Centre, the policy states that the requirement for houses is not applicable.  Targets for 
the number of bedrooms in flats ranges from 10% for one and four bedroom 

Page 34



apartments, 30% for three bedroom apartments, up to 50% with two bedrooms.  The 
co-living accommodation is designed for single people and all apartments would have 
a single bedspace.  Consequently, providing a mix of dwelling sizes by grouping the 
studios into small clusters would not readily fit the co-living model proposed at 
Headrow House where the intent is to provide an integrated community, albeit it is 
recognised that such an approach has been used elsewhere in the UK.  

 
Affordable housing 

 
9.2.33 CS policy H5 sets a minimum target that 7% of new homes in major developments in 

this part of the city should be affordable housing with a mix of intermediate and social 
rents at benchmark rents.  230 apartments would generate the need for 16.1, rounded 
to 17) affordable units based upon this policy.  The Co-Living Position Paper states 
that it ‘may be determined that the most appropriate approach for co-living schemes 
to contribute is a commuted sum in lieu of onsite provision’ albeit Members’ preference 
for affordable housing provision on site is recognised.  In this case, both the nature of 
the accommodation and the fact that it would be owned and managed as a single title 
would exclude the involvement of a registered social landlord.  The applicant is not a 
registered social landlord and has therefore agreed to provide a commuted sum of 
£2,454,874.81 in lieu of on-site provision of affordable housing. The District Valuer 
has reviewed this sum against the advice in the co-living position paper for calculating 
such sums and has confirmed that it is an acceptable, policy compliant, amount. 

 
9.2.34 Subject to the above matters and suggested conditions it is considered that the 

development would provide acceptable living conditions for future residents and 
comply with more strategic policies for long term residential accommodation and 
contribute towards the Core Strategy’s aim to provide 8,052 (net) new homes within 
the City Centre. 

 
9.3 Townscape, design and heritage considerations  
 
9.3.1 As described at paragraph 2.3, Headrow House is located in the setting of several 

listed buildings and the setting of the City Centre conservation area.  Section 66 of the 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (the ‘Listed Buildings 
Act 1990’) provides: 

 
“In considering whether to grant planning permission for development which affects a 
listed building or its setting, the local planning authority or, as the case may be, the 
Secretary of State shall have special regard to the desirability of preserving the 
building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest which 
it possesses.” 

 
And s.72 provides: 

 
“In the exercise, with respect to any buildings or other land in a conservation area… 
special attention shall be paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the 
character or appearance of that area.” 

 
9.3.2 The principal external alteration to the building would comprise replacement of the 

existing 1990’s rear extension with a new structure of similar scale and position but 
with a contemporary aesthetic.  The panels, which are likely to have a light bronze 
metallic finish, would have a stack bond arrangement with the longer vertical panels 
patterned to reference the textile heritage of the city.  The window openings, panel 
system and datums would be designed to respond to the principal building, whilst 
ensuring a clear differentiation between the new façade and original building fabric.  

Page 35



As a result, the existing recessed, north-facing, elevation would have added visual 
interest, whilst being sympathetic to the original aesthetic.     

 
9.3.3 The proposed studios require both mechanical and natural ventilation which cannot 

be integrated into the existing window system.  As a result, all windows above ground 
floor would be replaced.  The central component of the new windows would be sub-
divided into three vertical panels as a response to the vertical dimension of the void 
and to enable airflow through the central opening pane to be maximised.  The top light 
would be expressed by a louvre connecting with the mechanical ventilation ductwork 
in the rooms.  The window framing would be a warm dark brown, more sympathetic to 
the aesthetic of the building than the existing black framed windows which were a 
modern intervention.  The windows in the rear extension would be the same design 
as the replacement windows.  

 
9.3.4 The residents’ entrance on Dortmund Square would be improved with the introduction 

of new automatic sliding doors, improved lighting and signage to provide a clear and 
lighter access point into the building.  The closure of one of the vehicular access points 
onto Wormald Row allows new doors and windows to be introduced in place of the 
redundant shutter.  New metal railings around the perimeter of the parapet at roof 
level, and metal balustrading at lower levels of the chamfered corners of the building 
would be designed to respond positively to the aesthetic of the original building.  It is 
also intended to clean the brick and stonework around the building.   

 
9.3.5 As a whole, subject to detail which will be secured by planning conditions, the external 

works would enhance the appearance of the building albeit, given the relatively limited 
external interventions such works would have no impact upon the setting of nearby 
listed buildings or the character or appearance of the neighbouring conservation area.  
Subject to the above matters and suggested conditions, it is considered that the 
development would accord with CS policies P10, P11 and saved UDPR policies GP5 
and BD5. 

 
9.4 Transport and connectivity 
 
9.4.1 The proposed development is located in a sustainable City Centre location close to 

the many amenities offered.  It surpasses the Accessibility Standards identified in the 
CS.   The Council’s parking policies in this central location do not require a minimum 
level of car parking provided there would be no adverse impact on the highway 
network.  No dedicated car parking will be provided for the residents other than 5 
parking spaces for Blue Badge holders located within the existing basement.  Level 
access to ground level would be enabled by a new lift.  Each of the parking spaces 
would be supported by electric vehicle charging points.   

 
9.4.2 Wormald Row is a short street providing vehicular access to heavy goods vehicles 

servicing St John’s Centre and also to vehicles servicing or parking in the basement 
of Headrow House.  Wormald Row also provides a number of parking spaces for 
disabled blue badge holders.  Regardless of the limited space available it also attracts 
a proliferation of private hire vehicles picking up and dropping off customers.  It is also 
heavily used by pedestrians as a link between Dortmund Square and Albion Street 
despite the fact that the street does not benefit from continuous or wide footpaths. 

 
9.4.3 Servicing of the co-living studios would take place from a new loading bay to be 

marked out on the southern side of Wormald Row in place of two parking spaces for 
disabled people.  6m of the new loading bay could continue to be used as parking for 
disabled people during afternoon and evening periods.  A new parking space for blue 
badge holders would be provided on the northern side of the street whilst another 

Page 36



would be provided on Rossington Street or Percival Street, replacing a Pay and 
Display space.  As such, there would be net gain in parking provision for disabled 
people, albeit one of the spaces would be less centrally-located than presently.  A 
contribution of £31,415 per each pay and display space lost is to be secured by the 
section 106 agreement to mitigate the loss of pay and display revenue.  A contribution 
of £10,000 would also be secured to provide for the Traffic Regulation Order for these 
works. 

 
9.4.4 The removal of one of the vehicle access points on the north-east corner of Headrow 

House enables the provision of a new 2m wide section of footway extending from 
Dortmund Square across the redundant access point.  However, there are currently 
limited opportunities to improve the wider Wormald Row pedestrian environment given 
the existing uses.  As a separate project, Highways are presently investigating 
opportunities to improve the existing arrangements, potentially by narrowing the 
junction of Wormald Row with Albion Street in order to give greater priority for 
pedestrians at the road crossing. 

 
9.4.5 Within the building, long-stay secure storage facilities for 255 bicycles, alongside a 

cycle repair hub, would be provided in the basement for residents.  Access to these 
facilities would be via the car park ramp or via the new lift which would connect the 
basement and entrance lobby.  23 short stay visitor cycle parking space and 5 staff 
cycle spaces would also be provided to accord with the guidance and technical 
specifications provided in the Transport SPD.    

 
9.4.6 The application is supported by a detailed Travel Plan which brings together the range 

of information and measures which would promote greener, cleaner travel choices 
thereby reducing reliance on the car.  The Travel Plan will be supported by a 
Residential Travel Plan Fund of £59,765.50 alongside a Travel Plan Review fee of 
£4,461. The Travel Plan, Residential Travel Plan Fund and review fee would be 
secured by the section 106 agreement.   

 
9.4.7 The development of this sustainably located site would have an acceptable impact 

upon highway and pedestrian safety and provide sustainable transport choices whilst 
providing improved facilities for both cyclists and pedestrians.  Consequently, it would 
accord with CS policies SP11, T2 and CC3. 

 
9.5 Landscape, public realm and biodiversity 
 
9.5.1 Headrow House sits on a tight urban plot in the City Centre.  The size of the site is 

such that it would not be subject to formal green space requirements if it were to be 
redeveloped as typical C3 residential apartments.  Notwithstanding, the development 
would introduce areas of usable roof terrace at fourth floor and roof level totalling 
589sqm which would provide the opportunity for external amenity provision for 
residents.  Paved areas at fourth floor would be supplemented by ornamental planting 
beds, clipped hedges and clusters of shrubs and small trees.  At the tenth floor there 
would be more use of semi-covered walkways and areas of modular seating, 
interspersed with raised planters, tall pots with shrub planting, hedging and small 
trees.   

 
9.5.2 Alterations to the building allow the provision of integral bat roosting and bird nesting 

features, which together with the soft landscaping would provide biodiversity 
improvements for the site as a whole.  Consequently, the development would accord 
with CS policy G9. 

 
 

Page 37



    
 
9.6 Accessibility, equality and inclusion  
 
9.6.1 Alongside the Accessibility SPD, CS policies P10(vi) and T2 require that 

developments are accessible to all users.  The access strategy works with the 
constraints of the existing building to improve and increase accessibility across the 
development as required by Approved Document Part M (ADM) and BS8300:2018.  
The existing ramp from Dortmund Square into the building is to be retained with a new 
access control point enabling users to open the automatic entrance door before 
engaging with the ramp.  A new sliding door would be provided replacing the existing 
revolving door to the front of the stepped entrance point with enhanced clearance 
widths. 

 
9.6.2 Within the building CS policy H10 requires that 2% of new homes should be adaptable 

to wheelchair user standards (M4(3)).  This equates to 5 accessible studios which 
would be provided within the development and supported by the 5 accessible parking 
spaces in the basement.  A new lift would connect the basement levels with the main 
entrance lobby at ground floor from where there would be direct access to the main 
lifts to the upper floors of the building.  All other studios would be designed to comply 
with Part M requirements.   

 
9.6.3 The shared amenity spaces have been clustered together on the lower levels, with 

each suite of spaces directly accessible from both lift cores, ensuring spaces will be 
accessible to all residents at all times.  The spaces and layouts will be designed to be 
inclusive, with layouts allowing ease of movement for users in wheelchairs and the 
selection of furniture made accordingly.  Both the gym and first floor amenity cluster 
would be provided with a Part M compliant toilet, as well as WC's wide enough to 
accommodate ambulant disabled people.  Additional wheelchair accessible toilets 
would be provided adjacent to the first floor lounge.  An oversized kitchen would be 
provided on the first floor opposite a wheelchair accessible room which is able to 
accommodate wheelchair accessible kitchen surfaces and provide space for multiple 
wheelchair users to dine.  It is also possible to provide another wheelchair accessible 
kitchen counter in the opposite kitchen which is directly accessible from the lift lobby 
around which the remaining wheelchair accessible studios are clustered. 

 
9.6.4 There would be level access to the external amenity spaces on 4th and 10th floors.  

The access strategy confirms that detailed design of the external spaces would enable 
British Standard (BS) 8300 to be complied with fully.  Detailed landscape design will 
be secured by way of planning conditions. 

 
9.6.5 Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 requires local authorities to comply with the Public 

Sector Equality Duty.  Taking into account all known factors and considerations, the 
requirement to consider, and have due regard to, the needs of diverse groups to 
eliminate discrimination, advance equality of opportunity and access, and foster good 
relations between different groups in the community has been fully taken into account 
in the consideration of the planning application to date and at the time of making the 
recommendation in this report.  The proposals are not considered to raise specific 
implications in these respects and as such a full Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and 
Integration Impact Assessment (EDCI) is not required. 

 
9.6.6 Planning conditions are proposed which will secure the delivery of the accessible 

rooms and detailed landscape design.  Subject to such details the development will 
be accessible and accord with CS policies T2, P10 and H10.      

 
Page 38



9.7 Safety and security  
 
9.7.1 CS policy P10(v) identifies that developments should create safe and secure 

environments that reduce the opportunities for crime and the NPPF states that 
developments should be safe and accessible so that crime and disorder, and the fear 
of crime, do not undermine quality of life.   

 
9.7.2 The existing site is located in a central location in the City Centre.  Existing retail and 

commercial units would be retained on the ground floor with servicing activity taking 
place on Wormald Row.  The introduction of a residential use at upper floors with 
apartment windows overlooking all directions would increase passive surveillance 
around the site, particularly during evening and weekend periods when historically 
there was very low occupancy of the building.  Improved lighting, including around the 
pedestrian entrance, would improve visibility and safety around the site. 

 
9.7.3 The management plan (paragraph 3.13) will ensure a full management service within 

the building.  The proposals are supported by West Yorkshire Police.  Subject to 
detailed design to be secured by a condition the development would accord with CS 
policy P10. 

 
9.8 Sustainability and Climate Change 
 
9.8.1 The CS environmental policies are designed so that new development contributes to 

carbon reduction targets and incorporates measures to address climate change 
concerns following the Council’s declaration of a climate emergency in 2019.  Policy 
EN1 is flexible, allowing developers to choose the most appropriate and cost-effective 
carbon reduction solution for their site.  Major developments also need to meet the 
BREEAM Excellent standard if feasible (EN2).  Where technically viable, appropriate 
for the development, and in areas with sufficient existing or potential heat density, 
major developments should propose heating systems, potentially connecting to the 
emerging district heating network (EN4(i)). 

 
 9.8.2 The site is sustainably located and the development is seeking to achieve a high 

standard of sustainable design and construction, targeting BREEAM Excellent rating.  
This would be achieved through the implementation of a wide range of strategies and 
measures including the following: 

 
• Retention and re-use of the existing building but with improved thermal 

performance including through the introduction of the new windows  
• Smart construction to avoid landfill waste  
• Connection to the district heat network 
• Greater than 35% reduction in carbon emissions 
• Roof mounted air source heat pumps and a photovoltaic rooftop array of 200sqm 
• Introduction of electric vehicle charging points for 20% of the remaining, retained, 

commercial parking spaces in the basement 
• Biodiversity enhancement with new wildlife habitats, pollinating plant species and 

bird boxes 
 

9.8.3 As a result, and subject to confirmation of the proposed measures, the development 
would accord with CS policies EN1, EN2 and EN4 and positively respond to the 
Climate Change Emergency. 

 
9.9 Other considerations 
 

Page 39



9.9.1 The developer has provided a summary of the wider economic benefits of the 
development over and above the provision of 230 studios in the co-living 
accommodation: 

 
• 87 jobs sustained for the 22 months of construction, peaking at 121 direct 

construction jobs 
• Up to 50 extra jobs created indirectly 
• Apprenticeships and workforce training opportunities 
• £23m gross value added for the regional economy through construction activity 
• Improved graduate retention in the city 
• £1.15m per annum spend by new residents on retail, leisure, food and beverages 

in the City Centre 
 
9.10 Planning Obligations and CIL 
 
9.10.1 A legal test for the imposition of planning obligations was introduced by the Community 

Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended in 2019). These provide that a 
planning obligation may only constitute a reason for granting planning permission for 
the development if the obligation is: 

 
(a) necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms, 
(b) directly related to the development; and 
(c) fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development. 

 
9.10.2 The proposed scheme produces the need for the following obligations which it is 

considered meet the legal tests: 
 

• Affordable housing provision – a commuted sum in lieu of on-site provision 
£2,454,874.81 so as to accord with CS policy H5; 

• Compliance with agreed Travel Plan measures and an indexed travel plan review 
fee of £4,461 so as to accord with the Transport SPD; 

• Indexed residential travel plan fund £59,765.50 so as to accord with the 
Transport SPD; 

• Contribution of £31,415 (indexed) per each pay and display space lost resulting 
from loss of pay and display so as to accord with CS policy T2; 

• £10,000 Traffic Regulation Order so as to accord with CS policy T2; 
• Local employment and training initiatives so as to accord with CS policy SP8; 

and 
• Section 106 management fee. 

 
9.10.3 As the Headrow House office space has not been in use for 6 months during the last 

36 months the development would now be liable for a Community Infrastructure Levy 
sum of £119,123.55.  Consideration of where any Strategic Fund CIL money is spent 
rests with the Council’s Executive Board and will be decided with reference to the 
Infrastructure Funding Statement at the time that decision is made. 

 
10.0 Planning balance and conclusion 
 
10.1 Whilst co-living is a relatively new concept for the city it is a form of long-term 

residential accommodation which would provide additional diversity and choice for 230 
people to live in the heart of the City Centre.  Through a combination of facilities 
located throughout the building an acceptable standard of amenity would be delivered 
for residents. 

 
Page 40



10.2 Whilst office space would be lost there is a potential oversupply of office floorspace in 
the City Centre relative to the CS requirement.  Further, the applicant confirmed in 
their Office Market Commentary submitted with the planning application that the 
building’s location and market attractiveness (relative to other supply) make it non-
viable as an ongoing office premises.    

 
10.3 The proposals would repurpose and regenerate a prominently located landmark 

building in the City Centre which has been vacant for over 3 years. The development 
would also comply with the requirements of the Co-Living position paper on meeting 
affordable housing need.    

 
10.4 The development would have an acceptable impact upon highway and pedestrian 

safety and provide sustainable transport choices.   
 
10.5 The reuse of the building would reduce carbon impact whilst the proposed 

development would provide a raft of measures, including connecting to the district 
heating network, to ensure compliance with relevant local and national sustainability 
policy and, in so doing, would positively respond to the Climate Change Emergency. 

 
10.6 As a result, the development would accord with the Development Plan as a whole and, 

accordingly, it is recommended that the scheme should be deferred and delegated to 
the Chief Planning Officer for approval subject to the conditions specified in Appendix 
2 (including any amendment to the same or addition of further conditions as the Chief 
Planning Officer deems appropriate) and the completion of a Section 106 agreement. 

 
  
  

Page 41



Appendix 1 – Minutes of City Plans Panel 14th July 2022 
 
The report of the Chief Planning Officer informed Members of a pre-application presentation 
for the proposed change of use and alterations to Headrow House to form 232 co-living 
apartments; 42 The Headrow, Leeds, LS1 8HZ. 
  
Members attended the site prior to the meeting and site plans and photographs were 
displayed and referred to throughout the presentation. 
  
It was reported that this was the first time a co-living proposal had been presented to Panel 
and that there was no specific policy in the Core Strategy for co-living.  The proposals were 
for a long term residential development with day to day living facilities.  Members were asked 
to consider whether it was acceptable to have smaller sized residential elements with larger 
communal spaces.  Co-living was a new concept to Leeds but could be found in other cities. 
  
The applicant’s representatives addressed the Panel.  The following was highlighted: 
  
•  The building was recently used as office space and was now empty. 

•  It was felt a housing offer would be best suited for the building and the building layout lent 
itself to the proposed studio design and would work well for co-living. 

•  There would be improvements to the exterior and interior of the building. 

•  The development would encourage working people to live in the city centre. 

•  The proposals were sustainable in use and design and made use of carbon reduction 
technology. 

•  The proposal would give an appealing living environment and co-living was growing in 
popularity. 

•  There were three key elements: 

o  Community – the co-living model promoted social interaction and there would be a range 
of communal social spaces. 

o  Flexibility – there would be straight forward tenancy agreements with a minimum of 3 
months tenure. 

o  Inclusivity – there would be single monthly payments that covered all costs. 

•  It would be targeted at graduates, young professionals and those moving to the city for 
work.  There was clear demand for this kind of development. 

•  The proposals would support graduate retention and promote city centre living and support 
the city centre economy. 

•  The entrance to the building would be improved with new lighting and would provide an 
active frontage to Dortmund Square. 

•  Design of the studios with kitchen and bathroom spaces.  There would be communal 
kitchens that were better equipped. 

Page 42



•  Communal spaces and facilities including laundry areas and workspaces. 

•  Health and Wellbeing of residents was fundamental. 

•  The biodiversity net gains would exceed national targets. 

•  The proposals would bring key social, environmental and economic benefits. 

•  Members were shown a walk through video presentation of the proposals. 

  
In response to Members questions and comments, the following was discussed: 
  
•  With regards to anti-social behaviour, the Panel was informed that would always be a 
management team on site with four members of staff and a concierge. A three strikes and 
your out policy would be in place. 

•  The loss of space in the studio apartments was mitigated by the available communal 
spaces. 

•  Concern regarding the amount of natural light for the studios. 

•  Each floor of the development would have two communal kitchen spaces and other 
communal areas. 

•  There were other co-living arrangements in Leeds based on a co-operative model.  There 
were concerns as to how this would be managed on such a level particularly where there 
was conflict.  This would be covered by the management operations and support would be 
available to individuals. 

•  The proposals had been devised following commissioned work into housing demand. 

•  The proposals were felt to be a positive re-use of the building but there were concerns 
regarding the size of the studios. 

•  The size of the accommodation was too small for the more mature market and further 
work was needed on how to reconfigure the proposals. 

•  Detailed management plans would be required. 

•  There was a market for this kind of accommodation. 

•  It would be useful to have policy relating to this kind of accommodation. 

•  A C3 development would be preferable with communal workspaces and lounges. 

•  It was suggested that the Panel visit an existing co-living development. 

•  Whether the original main entrance to the building could be used. 

•  The Lord Mayor had suggested the use of the name Siegen in regard to Leeds twinning 
with the town. 

Page 43



•  In response to questions outlined in the report felt more information was needed before 
they could support the principle of co-living and the residential amenity offered by the 
development.  With regard to the approach to affordable housing provision it was agreed that 
that a financial contribution would be the most appropriate solution. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 44



Appendix 2 – Draft conditions  
 
 

1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years 
from the date of this permission. 
 
Imposed pursuant to the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 
 
2 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved plans listed in the Plans Schedule. 
 
For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 
 
3 No works shall commence until the Local Planning Authority has been provided with 
either: 
a) A Mitigation Method Statement and licence issued by Natural England pursuant to 
Regulation 53 of the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 authorising the 
specified activity to go ahead; or 
b) a statement in writing from an appropriately qualified ecologist to the effect that it does not 
consider that the specified activity will require a licence. 
 
To safeguard a protected species (Bats) in accordance with the Wildlife & Countryside Act 
1981 (as amended) and BS 42020:2013. 
 
4 No works shall take place between 1st March and 31st August inclusive, unless a 
competent ecologist has undertaken a careful, detailed check of the built structure for active 
birds’ nests immediately before (within 24 hours) the works commence and provided written 
confirmation that no birds will be harmed and/or that there are appropriate measures in place 
to protect nesting bird interest on site.  Any such written confirmation should be submitted to 
the Local Planning Authority within 3 days of such works commencing. 
 
To protect nesting birds in built structures in accordance with the Wildlife & Countryside Act 
1981 (as amended) and BS 42020:2013. 
 
5 The Local Planning Authority shall be notified in writing immediately where 
unexpected significant contamination is encountered during any development works and 
operations in the affected part of the site shall cease.  The affected part of the site shall be 
agreed with the Local Planning Authority in writing. 
 
Where remediation of unexpected significant contamination is considered by the Local 
Planning Authority to be necessary, a Remediation Strategy shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the recommencement of 
development on the affected part of the site.  The Remediation Strategy shall include a 
programme for all remediation works and for the provision of verification information. 
 
Remediation works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved Remediation 
Strategy.  On completion of those works, the Verification Report(s) shall be submitted to the 
Local Planning Authority in accordance with the approved programme.  The development shall 
not be brought into use until such time as all necessary remediation verification information 
has been approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
In the event that no unexpected significant contamination is encountered, written confirmation 
shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority prior to occupation of the site. 
 

Page 45



It is strongly recommended that all reports are prepared and approved by a suitably qualified 
and competent person. 
 
To enable the Local Planning Authority to ensure that unexpected contamination at the site 
will be addressed appropriately and that the development will be 'suitable for use' with respect 
to land contamination. 
 
6 Any soil or soil forming materials brought to site for use in soft landscaping shall be 
tested for contamination and suitability for use.  A methodology for testing these soils shall be 
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority prior to these materials 
being imported onto site.  The methodology shall include information on the source of the 
materials, sampling frequency, testing schedules and criteria against which the analytical 
results will be assessed (as determined by risk assessment).  Testing shall then be carried out 
in accordance with the approved methodology.  Relevant evidence and verification information 
(for example, laboratory certificates) shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the 
Local Planning Authority prior to these materials being imported onto the site.   
  
To ensure that contaminated soils are not imported to the site and that the development shall 
be suitable for use. 
 
7 No works shall begin until a Statement of Construction Practice has been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Statement of Construction 
Practice shall include full details of: 
 
(a) the construction vehicle routing, the means of access, location of site compound, 
storage and parking (including workforce parking), means of loading and unloading of all 
contractors' plant, equipment, materials and vehicles and associated traffic management 
measures; 
(b) the methods to be employed to prevent mud, grit and dirt being carried onto the public 
highway from the development; 
(c) measures to control the emissions of dust and dirt during construction; and 
(d) how this Statement of Construction Practice will be made publicly available by the 
developer. 
 
The approved details shall be implemented at the commencement of the development and 
shall thereafter be retained and employed until completion of works on site. The Statement of 
Construction Practice shall be made publicly available for the lifetime of the construction phase 
of the development in accordance with the approved method of publicity. 
 
In the interests of amenity and highway safety. 
 
8 Unless otherwise agreed in advance in exceptional circumstances the hours of 
construction including deliveries and waste collection for each phase shall be restricted to 
07:30 to 18:00 hours Monday to Friday, 07:30 to 13:00 hours Saturdays, with no construction 
activities on Sundays and Bank Holidays. 
 
In the interests of amenity. 
 
9 No development shall commence until a survey of the condition of Wormald Row, 
Albion Street, Dortmund Square and The Headrow has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Following completion of the development a survey of 
the highway shall be submitted identifying their condition, together with a schedule of remedial 
works to rectify damage to the highway identified between the two surveys.  The approved 
mitigation works shall be fully implemented prior to first occupation of the development or 
within an alternative timescale as may be agreed in advance in writing with the Local Planning 

Page 46



Authority.  In the event that a defect is identified during other routine inspections of the highway 
that is considered to be a danger to the public it must be immediately made safe and repaired 
within 24 hours from the applicant being notified by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
To ensure the free and safe use of the highway. 
 
10 Notwithstanding the submitted information no building works to the following areas 
and features shall commence until typical detailed 1:20 scale (or other appropriate scale) 
working drawings have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority: 
 
(a) ground level entrances and external doors, steps and ramp; 
(b) infilling of existing vehicular access point to be closed;  
(c)  replacement glazing details including reveal depths, framing and ventilation panels; 
(d) new rainscreen cladding; 
(e) metal louvres; and 
(f) balustrading and rooftop equipment including railings.  
 
The works shall be constructed in accordance with the approved details.   
 
In the interest of visual amenity and in providing a high quality design. 
 
11 Samples of the rainscreen cladding proposed for the northern side of the building shall 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to its installation.  
The samples shall include the erection of a full-size mock-up panel on site or in an agreed 
location nearby.  The external surfaces of the building shall be constructed in accordance with 
the details thereby agreed. 
 
In the interests of visual amenity. 
 
12 No installation of externally mounted plant or equipment shall take place until details 
of the installation and/or erection of any air conditioning or extract ventilation system, flue 
pipes, window cleaning equipment or other excrescences proposed to be located on the roof 
or sides of the building, including details of their siting, design, attenuation, and external 
appearance have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details and retained as such 
thereafter. 
 
In the interests of visual amenity. 
 
13 The off-site highway works illustrated on drawing J000356-SK101E – Loading bay 
Option comprising provision of a circa 16m loading bay on the southern side of Wormald Row: 
relocation of one blue badge bay to the northern side of Wormald Row; relocation of existing 
tactile paving to the north of Wormald Row; provision of a 2m footway across the existing  roller 
shutter accesses located near Dortmund Square and traffic regulation orders to allow loading 
at all times within the first 10m of the loading bay and, loading in the mornings and Blue Badge 
parking in the evenings for the remainder 6m of the loading bay shall be completed prior to 
first occupation of the development unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. 
 
In the interests of visual amenity, connectivity and to ensure the free and safe use of the 
highway. 
 

Page 47



14 The Blue Badge parking spaces shown on the approved plan 21032-SWAP-XX-B2-
DR-A-GA-1998 shall be laid out prior to first occupation of the development and thereafter 
retained for the life of the development.  The spaces shall only be used by Blue Badge holders. 
 
In the interests of accessibility. 
 
15 Full details of cycle parking and facilities shall be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall not be occupied until the approved 
cycle parking and facilities have been provided.  The approved facilities shall thereafter be 
retained for the lifetime of the development.   
 
In the interests of sustainable travel. 
 
16 Full details of electric vehicle charging points shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall not be occupied until the 
approved electric vehicle charging points have been provided.  The approved facilities shall 
thereafter be retained for the lifetime of the development.  
 
In the interests of sustainable travel.   
 
17 The development shall not be occupied until a Servicing and Delivery Management 
Plan (including timescales and detailed loading bay proposals) has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The plan shall be fully implemented and 
operated in accordance with the approved timescales.  
 
To ensure the free and safe use of the highway. 
 
18 Prior to completion of the reconstructed rear facade details shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority of integral bat roosting and bird nesting 
features (for species such as House Sparrow and Swift) within the building.  The agreed details 
shall show the number, specification of the bird nesting and bat roosting features and where 
they will be located, together with a timetable for implementation and commitment to being 
installed under the instruction of an appropriately qualified bat consultant.  All approved 
features shall be installed prior to first occupation of the development and retained thereafter. 
 
To maintain and enhance biodiversity. 
 
19 Prior to the occupation of the development full details of the on and off-site hard and 
soft landscape works shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  These details shall include: 
 
(a) proposed finished levels including details of any changes to the line or level of the existing 
adopted footway around the site;  
(b) external hard surfacing areas including alterations to Wormald Row;  
(c) if to be replaced, details of the platform lift at the pedestrian entrance to the building from 
Dortmund Square;  
 
Soft landscape works shall include: 
 
(d) planting plans;  
(e) written specifications (including cultivation and other operations associated with plant and 
grass establishment);  
(f) planter details;  
(g) schedules of plants noting species, planting sizes and proposed numbers/densities; and 
(h) implementation programme. 

Page 48



 
To ensure the provision of amenity afforded by appropriate landscape design. 
 
20  All hard and soft landscaping works shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details, approved implementation programme and British Standard BS 4428:1989 
Code of Practice for General Landscape Operations and BS 8300:2009 +A1:2010 Design of 
buildings and their approaches to meet the needs of disabled people. The developer shall 
complete the approved landscaping works and confirm this in writing to the Local Planning 
Authority prior to the date agreed in the implementation programme. 
 
To ensure the provision and establishment of acceptable and accessible landscaping. 
 
21 The development shall not be occupied until a plan, schedule and specification for 
landscape management during the establishment period has been submitted to, and approved 
in writing by, the Local Planning Authority.  This shall include reference to planting and hard 
landscaped areas, including paving, seating and other features.  The schedule shall identify 
the frequency of operations for each type of landscape asset and reflect the enhanced 
maintenance requirement of planted areas.  
 
To ensure successful establishment and aftercare of the completed landscape scheme. 
 
22 If, within a period of five years from the planting of any trees or plants, those trees or 
plants or any trees or plants planted in replacement for them is removed, uprooted, destroyed 
or dies or becomes, in the opinion of the Local Planning Authority, seriously damaged or 
defective another tree or plant of the same species and size as that originally planted shall be 
planted at the same place in the first available planting season, unless the Local Planning 
Authority gives its written consent to a variation.  If such replacements die within twelve months 
from planting these too shall be replaced, until such time as the Local Planning Authority 
agrees in writing that the survival rates are satisfactory. 
 
To ensure the maintenance of a healthy landscape scheme. 
 
23(a) Details of a sound insulation scheme which is designed to prevent both airborne and 
structural noise transfer between co-living studios which share party walls, ceilings or floors 
with rooms with communal uses (for example, laundries, kitchen/diners and games rooms) 
shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval in writing prior to the 
commencement of the development. The scheme must achieve internal residential noise 
ratings of no higher than NR20 in bedrooms between 23.00 and 07.00 and NR25 in all 
habitable rooms between 07.00 and 23.00 when communal rooms are in use. Details of 
equipment which is likely to result in structure borne noise transfer (for example, washing 
machines) shall be provided along with control measures (such as anti-vibration mounts) to 
prevent such transfer.  Other preventative measures to prevent noise breakout from communal 
rooms should also be detailed (for example limiting night-time use of laundry facilities).  Time 
control measures shall be retained and incorporated into a site noise management plan. The 
approved works shall be completed prior to first occupation and shall thereafter be retained 
for the lifetime of the development.  
 
(b) Within three months of occupation a post completion sound test to confirm compliance 
with specified criterion shall be submitted for approval. In the event that the sound levels 
exceed the specified limits, the applicant shall take corrective action and retest. Once 
compliance can be demonstrated the results shall be resubmitted for approval. 
 
In the interests of residential amenity. 
 

Page 49



24(a) No amplified music shall be played on the external rooftop amenity spaces on 4th and 
10th floors. 
 
(b) The external rooftop amenity spaces on 4th and 10th floors shall not be used between 
the hours of 2300-0700 on a daily basis. 
 
In the interests of residential amenity. 
 
25 The development shall be implemented in accordance with the glazing ventilation 
strategy details set out within Appendix A of The Headrow Energy & Sustainability Report 
2022.11.02 REV2C or in accordance with alternative details approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  The strategy should ensure that internal noise criteria of no more than 
30dB LAeq,8-hr between 23.00 – 07.00 hours is achieved for bedrooms at night whilst in 
operation.  The glazing and ventilation system shall be retained and maintained as such for 
the lifetime of the development  
 
In the interests of residential amenity. 
 
26 All studios in the elevation facing St John’s Centre multi-storey car park shall be fitted 
with black-out blinds.  Such blinds shall be retained and maintained as such for the lifetime of 
the development. 
 
In the interests of residential amenity. 
 
27 No external lighting shall be installed unless a scheme has previously been approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. No lighting fitment shall be installed on the site in 
such a way that the source of light is a hazard to users of adjoining or nearby highways. The 
scheme shall be installed and retained thereafter in accordance with the approved details. 
 
In the interests of amenity and highway safety. 
 
28 The hours for deliveries and waste collection shall be restricted to 07:30 to 18:00 
hours Monday to Friday, 07:30 to 13:00 hours Saturdays, with no deliveries/collection activities 
on Sundays and Bank Holidays. 
 
In the interests of amenity. 
 
29 The development shall not be occupied until the bin stores have been provided.  For 
the avoidance of doubt refuse bins shall not be stored outside the building at any time except 
at collection times. 
   
In the interests of amenity and to ensure adequate measures for the storage and collection of 
wastes are put in place. 
 
30(i) The development shall be implemented following the principles and measures set out 
within the Atelier Ten Energy & Sustainability Report and BREEAM Pre-assessment unless 
alternative details are otherwise approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.    
 
(ii)  Within 6 months of the first occupation of the development a post-construction review 
statement and as-built report shall be submitted and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority demonstrating compliance with Core Strategy policies EN1 and EN2.   
 
The development shall thereafter be maintained and any repairs shall be carried out all in 
accordance with the approved detailed scheme and post-completion review statement or 
statements. 

Page 50



 
To ensure the inclusion of appropriate sustainable design measures. 
 
31 The development shall not be occupied until it has been connected to the District Heat 
Network (DHN) unless it is agreed with the Local Planning Authority in advance that 
connection to the DHN is not viable or appropriate.  In order to demonstrate that the use of the 
DHN is not viable or appropriate a Feasibility Study shall be submitted prior to the 
commencement of development reviewing the viability and appropriateness of the connection, 
considering:  

- The capability of the district heating network to supply sufficient heating and power to 
the development.  

- The availability at the site boundary of the district heating network.  
- The proposed costs, terms and conditions of the connection and supply agreement 

being offered by the energy service company operating the district heating network and 
whether these are fair and reasonable.  

- The costs of the heating and power to be charged to occupiers of the development and 
whether these are fair and reasonable, and do not exceed, rates that are charged in 
the market.  

- The CO2 emissions released by the district heating network and that these are 
equivalent to, or lower than, those released by alternative on-site systems. 

If the Feasibility Study concludes that connection to the DHN is no longer viable or appropriate, 
details of an alternative on-site energy system to serve the development shall be submitted to 
and approved by the Local Planning Authority in writing and such approved scheme shall be 
implemented prior to occupation of the development. 
 
In the interests of sustainability.  
 
32 Prior to the first occupation of the development a Security Plan setting out measures 
to control access to the building shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  The measures thereby approved shall be implemented prior to first use of 
the development and thereafter retained and maintained. 
 
In the interests of security and public safety. 
 
33 Prior to the first occupation of the development details of the 5 accessible studios, 
basement lift, wheelchair accessible toilets, wheelchair accessible kitchens and furniture within 
the shared amenity spaces shall be  submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  The approved measures shall be provided prior to the occupation of the 
development and shall be retained and maintained for the lifetime of the development.  
 
In the interests of people with disabilities and access for all. 
 
34 Notwithstanding the submitted Fresh Management Plan - 42 The Headrow November 
2022, prior to the occupation of the development a revised management plan shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority which shall include further 
detail regarding measures, policies and arrangements to deal with tenancy noise, smoking, 
guests, secure kitchen storage, cleaning and maintenance, tenancy safety and anti-social 
behaviour. The development shall be operated in accordance with the details thereby 
approved which shall be implemented from first occupation of the development and thereafter 
for the lifetime of the development unless an alternative management plan is first submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.   
 
In the interests of residential amenity. 

Page 51



 
35 Prior to the first occupation of the development the communal rooms, spaces and  
facilities identified on drawings 21032-SWAP-XX-B3-DR-A-GA-1997, 21032-SWAP-XX-B2-
DR-A-GA-1998, 21032-SWAP-XX-B1-DR-A-GA-1999, 21032-SWAP-XX-01-DR-A-GA-2001, 
21032-SWAP-XX-02-DR-A-GA-2002, 21032-SWAP-XX-03-DR-A-GA-2003, 21032-SWAP-
XX-04-DR-A-GA-2004,   21032-SWAP-XX-05-DR-A-GA-2005, 21032-SWAP-XX-06-DR-A-
GA-2006, 21032-SWAP-XX-07-DR-A-GA-2007, 21032-SWAP-XX-08-DR-A-GA-2008, 
21032-SWAP-XX-09-DR-A-GA-2009 and 21032-SWAP-XX-10-DR-A-GA-2010 shall be 
provided for free use by all residents of the development and by no other persons other than 
persons visiting a resident.  The basement storage identified on drawings 21032-SWAP-XX-
B3-DR-A-GA-1997, 21032-SWAP-XX-B2-DR-A-GA-1998, 21032-SWAP-XX-B1-DR-A-GA-
1999 to be provided prior to the first occupation of the development will be useable for a 
charge, surplus to the occupiers rent.  The facilities shall thereafter be retained and maintained 
for the lifetime of the development. 
 
In the interests of residential amenity. 
 
36 The co-living studios shall not be let for periods of less than 90 days. 
 
In the interests of residential amenity and community cohesion. 
 
37 The co-living development hereby approved shall not occupied by more than 230 
residents at any one time. 
 
In the interests of residential amenity. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 52



Bond Court

15

House

5 4
133 to 141

THE HEADROW

Statue

18

to

20

1

Bollards

21

Leeds City

11

19 t0 20

St Andrews

TCB

ROSSINGTON STREET

Rising Bollard

35

COURT
24

4

Holbeck

52

PH

1 47

56.4m

7 t
o 2

3

Rising Bollards

99

46 48

12
3

Shelter

44
48

Ch
an

ge
 A

lle
y

1a 2

94

TCB

Shelter

20 to 24

34 to 38

32 33

15

24

25
19

 to
 23

27

21

36 38

1

LB

74 to 78

3

68

22 44

41 42

24

El Sub Sta

24 26

65 69

9

2

47 to 49

9

2

13

Buildings

20

THE

Shelter

137

TCBs

73

Zicon House

121

to

3

6 8

98 99

4

3 5

92 93

Rising
Bollards

20

23

Shelter

PC

BELGRAVE STREET

9

Lower Headrow House

33

37

Cy
cle

 W
ay

121

FISH STREET

Bank

7 t
o 1

1

21

26

23 25

(PH)

8

HARRISON STREET

46

14

5

Shelters

Petanque (boules)

House

Shelters

Court

3

STREET

10

2 1

74

1

37

Posts

17

70

The Light

Hotel

115

62

House

109
Chambers

Shelters

Shelter

40

37
38

Posts

67
a

79

44

12
1

a 50
54

WORMALD ROW

28

28

11 to 12

13

17

29

41

TR
IN

IT
Y 

ST
RE

ET

COMMERCIAL STREET

Rising Bollard

70

24
26

18

4 to 10

62

Upton's Yard

24

Pack Horse

LA
ND

S 
LA

NE

28
30

22

38a

43

51 to 53

43

The

18

23
11

(PH)

Shelters

Fa
irf

ax
Ho

us
e

36.3m

55

8

80
82

37.2m

107 to 111

Shelter

20

25

31

NEW

KIRKGATE

10

4

11

16 18

9

NE
W BR

IGG
AT

E

Wrens

15

27 29

30

Grand
Theatre

50

The

11

16

Friends

House

1

1 to 12

3

14

Institute

41

2

PH
41.5m

Chambers

PH

42.7m

1

Shelter

The

Posts

55

1
6

Kenneth Hodgson House

23

72

House

2a

36

El

UPPER BASINGHALL STREET

49
47

Buildings

60

117

68

36

to

57
 59

Rising Bollards

71
73

 75

Posts

101

LB

42

55.8m

Shelter

43

BANK STREET

64
56

Shelters

120

26 to 28
31

34 32

4

TCBs

21

64

Rising Bollard

ALBION PLACE

9a

1

50

12 to 14

15

1

6 to 12

Angel Inn Yard

FB

36a
38

15

Ca
r P

ark

3

Yard
Packhorse

23 19

Angel

14

Broad Gate

MARK LANE

MERRION STREET

45

133

58
 60 Rising Bollard

64

71

6

10

51 53

Shelter

to

6

Bollards

8 9

Bank

6 8

7

Victoria Quarter

21 to 27

26 to 30

51
a

44

17

53

13

Office

16

24

23 25

(PH)

14

50.6m

1 to 376

LBs

Play Area

Yorkshire House

Provident

ALEXANDER STREET

CITY SQUARE

11

131

Cycle Way

33
 to

 35
32

House
Sovereign

COOKRIDGE STREET

4

CO
OK

RID
GE

 ST
RE

ET

ESS

8
14

21

7 to
 9

Sub Sta
46 to 50

Chy

PERCIVAL STREET

Hedley Verity

1

43

Ps

77

AL
BI

ON
 S

TR
EE

T

Cinema

44a

Shelters

30 to 32

1

29

Ch an ge Alley

KI
NG

 C
HA

RL
ES

 S
TR

EE
T

66 to 70

49
 to

 51

19

5

The Core Shopping Centre

Square

TCBs

MERRION WAY

40

6

P

32
36

40

Merrion Market

47
 to

 49

47

(PH)

10 12

61 59

Music Hall

HEADROW

1 to 7

52
 53

Rising Bollard

56
 57

69

39.5m

3 to 9

2

1

127 to 135

88 89

33
39

El

KING EDWARD STREET

Queen Victoria Street

11 13 15 17

20

TCB

51c

57

26 to 30 (PH)

Cr
os

s A
rc

ad
e

21 to 25

10

13

1
3

Brunswick

Shelter

GREEK STREET

12

Consort

SOUTH PARADE

143

Fountain

23 to 25

2

14

7

17

3

Phoenix House

Henry Moore

PH

Shelters

36
31

123

17
23

House
Priestley

7

31
33

119

40

PH

32 33

7
10 22

5

El

58

3

City Exchange

Posts

61
67

Airedale House

91

97

10
5

TCB

26

21

60

53.6m

19
18

82 to 90

31
 to

 35

34 35

Posts

26

26

43.9m

34 25

24 to 28

Wade Lane

66

LB

57

Ship Yard

3 to 13

Thornton's Arcade

City Varieties

57

22 to 26

WADE LANE

TCBs

77

4

45 to 49

112
106

5 7

2

1

97

12

29

BRIGGATE

11 12

13 15

14

7

10

to

24

35

15

El

Belgrave Hall

Belgrave

18

2 to 16

Bramley's Yard

Vine

15 17

52 54

CR
OS

S 
BE

LG
RA

VE
 S

TR
EE

T

BEDFORD STREET

13

Victoria House

Leeds Art Gallery

Alexander

4

12

RUSSELL STREET

5

18

3

125

27
35

6

8

Rising

26

15
25

Leonardo Building

12

The University of Law

ST ANNE'S STREET

Thoresby House

17

10

52

34

West Riding

Sub Sta

113

60

43
a

45

40.2m

55

TCB

89

Headrow

Rising Bollard

82

Headrow House

110

TCB

16 to 18

Merrion Centre

Little Cross Street

16 to 17

St Albions

SM

TCB

38

3 t
o 7

9

72

82

84
86

Turk's Head Yard

9

5 6

10

1

Mu
ltis

tor
ey

SWAN STREET

129 to 132

17

TCB

70

78
83

Symons House

Warwick

TCB

114

94 to 96

51 b

St John's

Sub Sta

TO
WE

R 
HO

US
E 

ST
RE

ET

Altus House

El Sub Sta

127 to 135

7

2

9 11

20

Bay Horse Yard

16 18
County Arcade

35 29

16

to

55
59

32 34

17

MERRION PLACE

House

Ki
ng

 E
dw

ar
d

Ho
us

e

17 19

26 28
15

1a

St Albans House

6

WI
NE

 S
TR

EE
T

9

4

4

War Memorial

to

97

41 
to 5

1

PORTLAND GATE

28
 to

 30
27

16

LB

Cy
cle

 W
ay

St Anne's Cathedral

46.9m

2

35

Park Row

22

121

House

Leeds College of Art

Posts

30

BUTTS

Green Dragon Yard

1

Car Park (below)

2

GREAT GEORGE STREET

39

Rising Bollards

87
85

50

12
5

LB

1

62

36

92

14

3

26
23

PO

20

28

45 to 47

Posts

12 13

39.0m

30

Dortmund

Multistorey Car Park

St Johns Centre

TCB

80

9 to 11

Bo
wl

ing
 Al

ley

17

2 4

7

25

14 to 22

24b

41

Hotel

46

4

(PH)

Minor and Scurr's Yard

8

18

63
61

a 55

46.8m

51

LB

TCBs

2 to 6

72

PH

1

104

TCBs 2

27

ESS

19
21

9

12 14

7

ESSs

43
45

51

51d

21

Memorial

34

Shelters

Pennine House

Millennium Square

INFIRMARY

6

1 to 25

15
1 to 25

TCBs

FB

33

Shelters

PARK ROW
Bedford

2

LBs

Cycle Way

19

Museum

Mill Hill Chapel

10
11

13
18

15 to 16

House

Cathedral

VERNON STREET

31

Telephone Exchange

Basinghall

Multistorey Car Park

6

56 54

(PH)

WOODHOUSE LANE

TCB

53
93

 to
 97

99
10

3

Buildings

11
9

TCB

Superstore

26 to 34
38 36

28

50
58

76

Multistorey Car Park

Merton House

40

20

20
 22

Shelter

19

15

37

40
42

72

53

57

Rising Bollard

Statue

20
48

42
52

88 to 90

Whitelocks (PH)

8

23

TCBs 27

4

Ra
mp

53.6m

44 45 46

1

The Ship

15

Queen's Arcade

Hall

Garden of Rest

50

48 49

54

14

1

76

127

Sub Sta

41

Rising

House

House

15 17

6

18

18

32

Register

ST ALBANS PLACE

17

20

22 24

27 to 30

61
a

Point20/01173/CLP CITY PLANS PANEL
© Crown copyright and database rights 2023 Ordnance Survey 100019567
 PRODUCED BY CITY DEVELOPMENT, GIS MAPPING & DATA TEAM, LEEDS CITY COUNCIL °

22/07525/FU

SCALE : 1/2500Page 53



P
age 54



 
Report of the Chief Planning Officer 
 
CITY PLANS PANEL 
 
Date: 07.11.2024 
 
Subject: PREAPP/24/00331 – Erection of office building with associated landscaping 
and ground floor commercial units at Wellington Place, Leeds LS1 4AP 
 
 
APPLICANT DATE VALID TARGET DATE 
 
Hermes 
C/o MEPC Limited 
Bee House 
140 Eastern Avenue 
Milton Park 
OX14 4SB 
 
 
 

n/a n/a 

 
 

        
 
 
RECOMMENDATION: This report is brought to Plans Panel for information. The 
Developer will present the details of the emerging scheme to allow Members to consider 
and comment on the proposals at this stage. 
 

 
  

Electoral Wards Affected:  
 
Hunslet and Riverside 

Specific Implications For:  
 
Equality and Diversity 
  
Community Cohesion 
 
Narrowing the Gap 

 

 

 
 

Originator:  Matthew Walker  
 
Tel: 0113 3788033 

 Ward Members consulted 
   
Yes 

Page 55

Agenda Item 8



 
1. INTRODUCTION 

This presentation is intended to inform Members of the emerging proposals at the 
next development plot at Phase 2 Wellington Place. The proposal would involve the 
submission of a Full Planning Application for a new office building (as the end use 
of offices departs from the maximum office space allowance of the extant outline 
consent). The building would however (in effect) be the third building proposed as 
part of the overall redevelopment of the Wellington Place Phase 2 site, previously 
considered and agreed by City Plans Panel on 27th June 2019 (ref. 18/07929/OT). 

2. PROPOSAL 

The design is for a basement, ground + 11 storey building, with a 7-lift core, which 
provides up to199,538 sq.ft office NIA from Level 01 to 11, 9,181sq.ft GIA office or 
commercial space at ground floor level and a combined Reception and Business 
Lounge across ground and mezzanine level. 
 
A basement accommodating up to 40 parking spaces(standard, EVC, Accessible 
and Accessible EVC) plus associated facilities is proposed. 
 
The design provides a highly sustainable development with flexibility to 
accommodate a hybrid ventilation strategy. The building will be all electric, net zero 
carbon in operation and is designed to target NABERS 5.5*, Fitwel 2*, EPC A and 
BREEAM ‘Outstanding’ accreditations. 

 
3. SITE AND SURROUNDINGS 

The Wellington Place estate is in the City’s ‘West End’ area, in the designated city 
centre. The estate sits adjacent to the southern edge of the Leeds City Centre 
Conservation Area. The City’s historic retail quarters are located to the North and 
East of the estate, with light commercial industry and the inner ring road to the West, 
and existing residential, hotel and office uses to the south of Whitehall Road along 
with planned development for new commercial, office and residential uses.   
 
The cleared development site is located at the western end of the wider estate 
adjacent to the River Aire. It is immediately to the northeast of the grade II listed 
former railway viaduct which has been regenerated as a public space over the River 
Aire and provides pedestrian connections to the predominantly residential 
developments on the opposite side of the river. 
 
Over time the urban grain within the historic boundary of the Wellington Place Estate 
has been broken down to a more permeable streetscape, offering visual and physical 
connectivity towards the river and the developments beyond with new and planned 
pedestrian connections over the River Aire. Between Wellington Place, Whitehall 
Riverside, Globe Road and the Latitude developments across the River Aire, the 
surrounding area has developed a modern character and feel, whilst being distinctly 
individual to the wider City through their expression of materials, massing and form.  
 
The palette of materiality used across Wellington Place is predominantly stone, 
however all buildings express their individuality through the exploration of variations 
of its colour, texture and tone. The historic Grade II listed Lifting Tower at Tower 
Square forms a key focal point to the wider estate and has resulted in a key east- 
west connection through the estate linking it to the viaduct connection at the River 
Aire. This east-west route has influenced the location of the various plots across the 

Page 56



estate. Key sight and desire lines have been developed around the Lifting Tower to 
form a new area of public realm. Pedestrian links between plots direct users towards 
this square, encouraging activity and improving permeability. 

  

Page 57



 
4. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY  

Planning applications: 

4.1   06/06824/OT Outline application to layout access and erect mixed use multilevel 
development up to 19 storeys, with offices, residential, hotel, shops, financial and  
professional services, restaurants and cafes, drinking establishments, hot food 
takeaways, cultural and community uses, basement car parking, associated 
landscaping and public space.(Approved by City Plans Panel 31/03/2008) 
 

4.2 18/07929/OT Outline planning application with all detailed matters reserved, with the 
exception of means of access, to be implemented in phases, for a multi-level mixed 
use development, including the demolition of existing office building, totalling up to 
150,407 sqm gross external area of development comprising office floor space (B1 
a); hotel use (C1) residential use (C3); and other uses including all or some of the 
following; retail, leisure, health and community uses (use classes A1, A2, A3, A4, A5, 
D1 and D2); car parking (including basement and a multi-storey car park (Sui 
Generis)); new public spaces; hard and soft landscaping; cycle parking; access; 
servicing; and other associated infrastructure and engineering works (Approved by 
City Plans Panel 29/10/2019) 
 

4.3 19/06879/RM Reserved matters application for a part ten storey and part eleven 
storey office (B1a) at 11 and 12 Wellington Place with flexible commercial ground floor 
(A1/A2/A3/A4/A5/D1/D2/B1a) uses together with basement gym, parking and 
associated landscaping (approved by City Plans Panel, 27/02/2020) 

 
4.4 22/00775/RM Reserved matters application at 9 Wellington Place (details of 

appearance, landscaping, layout and scale) twelve-storey building, with offices on the 
upper floors and flexible commercial uses on the ground floor, along with basement 
parking and associated public realm works pursuant to Outline Planning Permission 
18/07929/OT (approved under delegated powers on 20/10/2022) 

 
4.5 21/04128/FU & 21/04129/LI (Listed building consent for) erection of vertical staircase 

connection to former railway viaduct to provide pedestrian access 
including lift with landscaping and associated works. (approved under delegated 
powers on 11/10/2021) 
 

4.6 22/06243/FU & 22/06244/LI (Listed building application for) repairs and alterations to 
former railway lifting tower including landscaping and associated works. (approved 
under delegated powers on 14/02/2023) 

 
  

Page 58



5. HISTORY OF NEGOTATIONS 

5.1. This Pre-application Enquiry was lodged on 15.08.2024.  Detailed discussions 
have taken place with relevant officers on 25.09.2024 (Design) 01.10.2024 
(Landscape and accessibility) and 18.10.2024 (Highways) 

6. CONSULTATION RESPONSES 

 Statutory Consultees: 

6.1. Not applicable  

Non-Statutory Consultees: 

6.2. Flood Risk Management  

The proposed development is located within Flood Zones 2 and 3 and there are 
records of recent flooding within the proposed development area adjacent areas. An 
initial review has also identified that there are no known surface water flood risks 
which may require specific mitigation and may impact on the proposed development. 
The proposed development is adjacent to the river Aire a designated Main River. 
The applicant has not submitted any drainage details in relation to the enquiry and a 
NPPF compliant site-specific Flood Risk Assessment should be submitted with any 
full planning application 

Contaminated Land  

The Preliminary Site Assessment (desk study report) submitted and approved for 
18/07929/OT was commissioned by the current applicant, considered office as a 
proposed use, and the site is currently a car park (and/or site compound) as it has 
been for many years. On the premise that it would therefore still be largely 
approvable it is suggested that this could be resubmitted in support of a full 
application (or a new or amended document if felt necessary by the relevant 
consultant). 

Local Plans 

Detailed response on land use provided, see ‘principle of development’ section of 
appraisal at 11.1 of this report. 

Design Team 

A Design focussed meeting with the design officer and developer took place on 
25.09.2024 where the scheme was presented. The design team have advised 
support for the proposals which follow a now established vernacular across 
Wellington Place. 

Landscape Team 

The proposals have been the subject of a detailed landscape design meeting, the 
proposals are supported in principle, would be the subject of planning conditions and 
advice has been provided to inform the next stage of design development prior to a 
formal submission. 

 

 
Page 59



7. PLANNING POLICIES 

7.1. LOCAL PLANNING POLICY AND GUIDANCE 

The Development Plan 

7.1.1. As required by Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 
this application has to be determined in accordance with the Development Plan 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The Development Plan currently 
comprises the adopted Local Development Framework Core Strategy (2019), 
those policies saved from the Leeds Unitary Development Plan (Review 2006), the 
Site Allocations Plan (2019, as amended 2024), the Natural Resources and Waste 
Development Plan Document (2013, as amended 2015), the Aire Valley Leeds 
Area Action Plan (2017) and any made Neighbourhood Plan if applicable. 

7.2. The site is allocated within the Site Allocations Plan as MX 1-8, is allocated for 
mixed use at 600 residential units and 121,175sqm of office space. The allocation 
boundary relates to the entire phase 1 and phase 2 Wellington Place sites. 

7.2.1. The following policies from the Core Strategy are considered to be of most 
relevance to this development proposal: 

General Policy Sustainable Development and the NPPF 

Spatial Policy 1  Location and scale of development.  
Spatial policy 2  hierarchy of centres and spatial approach to retailing, offices, 

intensive leisure and culture  
Spatial Policy 3  City Centre Development  
Spatial Policy 6  Housing requirement and allocation of housing land  
Spatial policy 7  distribution of housing land and allocations  
Spatial Policy 8  Economic development priorities  
Spatial Policy 9  Employment  
Spatial Policy 11 Transport infrastructure investment priorities such as pedestrian 

improvements  
Policy CC3  Improving connectivity between the City Centre and Neighbouring 

Communities.  
Policy EC2  Office development   
Policy EC3  Employment use land  
Policy P10  Design  
Policy P11  Heritage  
Policy P12  Landscape  
Policy T1  Transport management  
Policy T2  Accessibility requirements and new development  
Policy H10  Accessible Dwellings  
Policy EN1  Carbon dioxide reduction  
Policy EN2  Sustainable design and construction  
Policy EN4  District heating  
Policy EN5  Managing flood risk  
Policy CC1  City Centre Development  
Policy G5  Open space provision  
Policy G8  Protection of important species and habitats  
Policy G9  Biodiversity Improvements 

  

Page 60



7.2.2. The following saved policies from the Unitary Development Plan are considered to 
be of most relevance to this development proposal: 

Policy GP5 all planning considerations  
Policy BD2 design and siting of new buildings  
Policy LD1 landscaping 

 
7.2.3. The following policies from the Natural Resources and Waste Local DPD are 

considered to be of most relevance to this development proposal: 

Air 1 management of air quality through new development  
Water 1 water efficiency including sustainable drainage  
Water 7 surface water run-off  
Water 2 protection of water quality  
Water 4 development in flood risk areas  
Water 6 flood risk assessments  
Land 1 contaminated land  
Land 2 development and trees  
Minerals 3 coal safeguarding 
 

 Relevant Local Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents 

7.2.4. The most relevant local supplementary planning guidance (SPG), supplementary 
planning documents (SPD) are outlined below: 

SPD Accessible Leeds 
SPD Building for Tomorrow Today: Sustainable Design and Construction 
Transport SPD 
SPG City Centre Urban Design Strategy 
 
NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY AND GUIDANCE 

 National Planning Policy Framework 

7.2.5. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) sets out the Government’s 
planning policies for England and how these are expected to be applied. It sets out 
the Government’s requirements for the planning system. The NPPF must be taken 
into account in the preparation of local and neighbourhood plans and is a material 
consideration in planning decisions. 

 National Planning Practice Guidance 

7.2.6. The Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) provides commentary on the application of 
policies within the NPPF. The PPG also provides guidance in relation to the 
imposition of planning conditions. It sets out that conditions should only be 
imposed where they are necessary; relevant to planning and to the development to 
be permitted; enforceable; precise and reasonable in all other respects. 

  

Page 61



7.2.7. Other Legislation  

Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (the 
“Listed Building Act 1990”) reads: “In considering whether to grant planning 
permission… for a development which affects a listed building or its setting, the local 
planning authority…shall have special regard to the desirability of preserving the 
building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest which 
it possesses” 

8. CLIMATE EMERGENCY: 

8.1. The Council declared a climate emergency on the 27th March 2019 in response to 
the UN’s report on Climate Change. 

8.2. The Planning Act 2008, alongside the Climate Change Act 2008, sets out that climate 
mitigation and adaptation are central principles of plan-making. The NPPF makes 
clear that the planning system should help to shape places in ways that contribute 
to radical reductions in greenhouse gas emissions in line with the objectives of the 
Climate Change Act 2008. 

8.3. As part of the Council’s Best City Ambition, the Council seeks to deliver a low-carbon 
and affordable transport network, as well as protecting nature and enhancing 
habitats for wildlife. The Council’s Development Plan includes a number of planning 
policies which seek to meet this aim, as does the NPPF. These are material planning 
considerations in determining planning applications. 

9. PUBLIC SECTOR EQUALITY DUTY: 

9.1. The Equality Act 2010 requires local authorities to comply with the Public Sector 
Equality Duty. Taking into account all known factors and considerations, the 
requirement to consider, and have due regard to, the needs of diverse groups to 
eliminate discrimination, advance equality of opportunity and access, and foster 
good relations between different groups in the community has been fully taken into 
account in the consideration of the planning application to date and at the time of 
making the recommendation in this report. 

10. MAIN ISSUES 

o Principle of the proposed uses / departure from the Outline Planning 
Permission  

o Design and Heritage 
o Landscape 
o Highways 
o Footbridge / Riverside Walkway 
o Climate Change 

  
 

11. APPRAISAL 

11.1 Principle of the proposed uses / departure from the Outline Planning 
Permission  

11.1.1 The Phase 2 outline planning permission allows for an overall maximum quantum of 
development totalling up to 150,407 sqm Gross External Area for each the following:  
 

• 76,783 sqm office floorspace (use class B1a)  
Page 62



• 23,443 sqm residential floorspace (use class C3) 
  • 12,868 sqm hotel floorspace (use class C1)  

• 4,608 sqm flexible uses including retail (use class A1); financial and professional 
services use class A2); restaurants and bars (use class A3 and A4); hot food 
takeaway (use class A5); business floor space (use class B1); non-residential 
institution (use class D1) assembly and leisure (use class D2).  
• Remaining floorspace is Multi Storey Car Park and basement car parking areas. 

 
11.1.2 The Outline Planning Permission envisaged building 14 (building 13 as was originally 

denoted in the outline permission but renumbered going forwards) to be a hotel and 
the completion of buildings 11 and 12 and the approved permission for the recently 
commenced building 9 have (in effect) used up the allowances for office space 
afforded by the outline planning consent. Therefore, in order to progress a new office 
building at Wellington Place the applicant intends to ‘sidestep’ the outline permission 
for this phase of the overall development of Wellington Place and submit a full 
planning application for an office led use building with some active ground floor 
commercial use. It is on this point amongst others on which the view of members is 
sought. 

 
The proposed development would replace the planned hotel site (building 14) within the outline 

consent. In this case, the deviation from the outline consent and the proposed change 
to an office building is not considered to be prejudicial to the overall allocation. Whilst 
in addition to office space the allocation seeks delivery of 600 residential units, the 
outline consent still retains a number of later phases yet to be delivered and through 
which the residential allocation can be fulfilled in due course.  

 
11.1.3 On its other planning merits, officers consider an office building in lieu of the 

envisaged hotel is acceptable in land use terms. Wellington Place is hegemonic in 
terms of its office uses, however the site’s geographic location within the general 
diverse mixed-use context of the city centre and also, the population of the Wellington 
Place estate with active, commercial ground floor uses has helped to avoid a 
potentially harmful monoculture. Therefore, in consideration of the above, in terms of 
the Site Allocation Plan, the site is considered acceptable for office uses in principle.  

11.1.4 The enquiry states that the ground floor will include commercial retail type uses. 
Leeds’s Adopted Development Plan adopts a ‘centre first’ approach. The proposal is 
within the City Centre Boundary but outside the Primary Shopping Quarter. It is also 
in close proximity to Wellington Street Local Convenience centre.  

11.1.5 In particular, adopted policies advise that convenience retailing will be resisted 
outside the designated centres when greater than 200 sqm and officers consider it 
may be necessary to control the flexibility currently afforded by Class E within the Use 
Classes Order for this specific use given it’s potential for conflict with adopted policies 
in the development plan. 

11.16 Therefore, whilst not resolved at the point of this enquiry, the applicant will be 
expected to address any retail and associated policies and evidence that there will be 
no negative impact with regard to the centres first approach, but also giving 
consideration to the positive benefits active ground floor uses have brought to the 
estate and this area of the city centre, animating the new pedestrian routes and 
providing footfall and activity outside of traditional office hours of operation.  

11.1.7 Do members support the proposed end uses of the new building no.14? 

Page 63



11.2 Design and Heritage 
 
11.2.1 Despite a departure in land use terms from the outline planning permission, in 

respects of design, heritage and townscape matters, notwithstanding a very minor 
reorientation of the building footprint within the plot as was envisaged by the extant 
consent, the applicant’s clear intention is to adhere to the clear design merits of the 
outline planning permission. The proposals can therefore be considered through the 
lens of continuation rather than deviation from the expected phase of development in 
the overall sequence of the redevelopment of the phase 2 site. 

 
11.2.2 As was the case with the now commenced Wellington Place building 9 (on which 

members were satisfied in allowing officers the right to determine under delegated 
powers) officers consider the proposed façade design reacts positively to the site, with 
it’s tonality and design successfully mediating between the dynamic form of buildings 
11 and 12, the heritage sensitive area around the Viaduct, the redbrick vernacular of 
the emerging residential led setting of the former Doncaster Monkbridge and Latitude 
sites and, the now well established buildings within Wellington Place delivered 
through the phase 1 outline permission. Whilst readable as a family of buildings it’s 
now clear that the Wellington Place estate is, in design terms clearly a family, but a 
family of individual characters, with shared characteristics that do not extend to being 
monosyllabic. 

 
11.2.3 The massing of the proposed building is derived from the master-planning 

requirement for a stepping scale across the site towards the River Aire. The Maximum 
Plot Boundaries Plan prepared for the 2019 Outline Planning Permission 
(18/07929/OT) sets a maximum height for building 13 (now referred to as building 14) 
of 83.000m AOD. The maximum parapet height for this new building 14WP will be 
within this maximum parameter. 

 
11.2.4 The primary materials proposed for building 14 are: 
 

• Dark coloured cast stone rainscreen cladding 
• Dark anodic bronze composite aluminium panels 
• Dark anodic bronze ribbed plant screen 
• Dark anodic bronze stick system curtain wall 
• Dark anodic bronze perforated mesh cladding 
• Double glazed units with solar control coating 
• Light anodic bronze accent fins. 

 
Whilst departing from the outline consent in use terms, members are advised that the 
same suite of conditions concerning materials and detailed drawings would be 
imposed in the event of approval, to maintain the now evident quality in building and 
landscape and, for consistency and would not be diluted by virtue of a separate 
planning permission being required in this case. 

 
11.2.5 In terms of the detailed building and façade design, inspiration is naturally taken from 

the adjacent heritage asset. The Grade II listed Holbeck Viaduct located adjacent to 
the site used to extend through the site to meet the wagon hoisting towers. Comprising 
92 typically equally spaced arches, each arch is supported at each end by a heavy 
vertical element which provides a rigorous vertical expression. The design for building 
14 references the viaduct to provide a rigorous grid (conforming to the masterplan 
design guide’s preference for a 7.5m structural grid) and a clearly expressed vertical 
emphasis. To provide structural reinforcement and to emphasise the vertical 
expression, the Holbeck Viaduct utilises a double masonry thickening to provide 

Page 64



buttress support, this detail can be scaled up to provide a vertical expression in the 
emerging façade design. 
 

11.2.6 Further reference to the Holbeck Viaduct is made through subtle reference to the 92 
arched openings. Stone spandrel panels will adopt an arched form in plan only (not 
elevation). Officers consider this will introduce a new architectural language to the 
estate without appearing as a departure from the established architectural 
expression of the remainder of the estate. 

 
11.2.7 Do Members support the proposals in respect of design, scale, form and 

detailing? 
 
11.3 Landscape 
 
11.3.1 Wellington Place now has an established vernacular and typology of hard and soft 

landscaping and this latest proposal does not seek to deviate from this. It is 
considered that the proposed layout and landscape design will provide activity and 
passive surveillance along the main pedestrian routes by virtue of the proposed 
coordination of ground floor retail and amenity uses that have the potential to spill out 
via external seating areas. 
 

11.3.2 Two new public squares have been provided within the estate, Tower Square and 
Viaduct Yard. Tower Square, centred around the Lifting Tower, was completed with 
the delivery of 11&12 Wellington Place. Viaduct Yard will predominantly be formed 
through the delivery of building 9 (permission 22/00775/RM approved under 
delegated powers). 14 Wellington Place will complete the enclosure of Viaduct Yard 
and will therefore, it is considered through its consistency and design, make a positive 
contribution to this important area of public realm for the city. 

 
11.3.3 Officers have provided general landscape advice to inform a planning application in 

due course. Of particular note is the need to include the largest possible trees which 
should be used in terms of maximising climate change resilience. The site is 
constrained in this regard as a large extent of the proposed public realm would be 
atop a basement car park, which restricts delivery of deep soil depth. This 
arrangement will also place extra demand on irrigation and therefore the applicant 
has been advised this matter will be strictly controlled through conditions and a viable 
and maintainable standalone irrigation system will be required. As with other matters 
and noted above, officers will look to the existing suite of conditions pursuant to the 
Outline Planning Permission to be replicated and adapted for this new standalone 
proposal and application. 

 
11.3.4 Officers have made the suggestion that an element of informal play be provided and 

the applicant has responded positively. Proposals on this feature are not yet formed 
at the time of this report, but the applicant has recognised the estate’s location in a 
mixed use environment (particularly around Doncaster Monkbridge) where the estate 
acts as a transitional space and where families are an increasingly relevant 
demographic. 

 
11.3.5 Do members support the proposed approach to landscaping and pedestrian 

connectivity? 
 
  

Page 65



11.4 Highways 

11.14.1 The basement area to the new building 14 is proposed to be designed to connect with 
the approved basement arrangement for building 9, with the internal basement layout 
for building 9 having already considered this link in its approved basement formatting. 
The future building 15 will be serviced from the shared access road between buildings 
12 and 14.  

 
40 car parking spaces are indicatively proposed within the basement including 
Electrical Vehicle Charging Points (EVCP), accessible and accessible EVCP, along 
with 18 motorcycle parking spaces, 84 double tier gas assisted racks accommodating 
168 bicycles and 34 Sheffield Stands accommodating 68 bicycles for long stay. At 
this early design stage, officers do not have sufficient plan-based information and 
specifications to perform a full assessment in order to ensure the provision meets the 
quantum and spatial requirements of the Transport SPD. The matter will be given full 
assessment at the planning application stage and the matter will be controlled to 
ensure the provision meets the city’s adopted parking guidelines. 

 
A lay-by is provided for substation maintenance, deliveries, drop off and fire tender 
access. As the proposed servicing layby is different to that shown in masterplan 
layouts for the OT permission, vehicle tracking and additional information would be 
required at a formal application stage to demonstrate the suitability of the proposed 
layby on the internal service road. 
 

11.14.2 The site is definitively in an accessible location within the city centre and is well served 
by public transport. An assessment of routes to/from the development will be carried 
out at the formal application stage to ensure these are accessible for all users, with 
any improvements required identified and included in any proposals- this is included 
in the proposed scope for the Transport Statement, the scope of which has been 
discussed and agreed between the applicant and officers at the recent meeting on 
18.10.2024. There are planned cycle route improvements along Whitehall Road, 
which the highway works secured on the previous outline permission integrate with. 
Additional pedestrian wayfinding may be required both within and external to the wider 
Wellington Place estate and a contribution may be required to secure this. Again, 
officers would look to replicate the existing suite of conditions pursuant to the outline 
permission and adapt these where necessary. 

 
11.14.3   Do members support the emerging proposal in terms of highway matters? 
 
11.5 Footbridge / Riverside Walkway 

11.5.1 The Outline Planning Permission and it’s associated Section 106 agreement secures 
delivery of a low level footbridge (in addition to the viaduct connection) over the river 
between the edge of the building 14 plot and City Island (on the opposite bank). The 
section 106 also secures a link to the Yorkshire Post Riverside Walkway to be 
delivered by that adjacent scheme. The bridge facility will be delivered either at the 
occupation of the latter of either plots 15 or 16 or within ten years of the grant of the 
outline consent and is not relevant to this specific phase of the overall development. 
The bridge will be the subject of a separate planning application at the relevant 
juncture. Neither of these matters are prejudiced by the step away from the outline 
planning permission proposed for building 14. 

11.5.2 Notwithstanding, members are advised that embryonic design work is now being 
undertaken by the applicant and advice is currently being sought by the applicant from 
the Environment Agency to ensure timely delivery. The practicalities of the delivery of 

Page 66



the bridge will impact upon this development proposal before members only in so far 
as the bridge landing point needs to be accommodated in the proposed landscape 
layout for this plot. At this stage, proposals for the landing point provided in the 
landscaping layout are indicative only, may be subject to change in future depending 
on the technical requirements arising from the design process for the bridge.  

11.5.3 Officers however consider it encouraging the proposals address the likely spatial 
requirements for the bridge landing in the very early and emerging stages for the 
building 14 scheme. Initial dialogue has been opened between the developer and the 
council’s access officer through this enquiry process for building 14, however at this 
stage, no further details on the bridge link can be provided to members. Members will 
be presented with the relevant details on this matter when possible and appropriate 
to do so and when design work is more advanced. 

  

 

11.6 Climate Change   

Much like the design ethos employed on building 9, the applicant is seeking a very 
high standard of climate change resilience for the new building. The design intends 
to provide a highly sustainable development with flexibility to accommodate a hybrid 
ventilation strategy. The intention is for the building to be all electric and net zero 
carbon in it’s operation. The applicant is targeting (amongst other accreditations) 
BREEAM ‘Outstanding’. Clearly given that this exceeds the current adopted planning 
policy requirement, this approach is highly endorsed and will be assessed in detail at 
the planning application stage alongside the finalised suite of supporting information. 

12. CONCLUSION: 

Members are asked to note the contents of the report and the presentation. In 
addition, Members are invited to provide feedback in response to the following key 
questions asked in the report above and as follows:  

 
o Do members support the proposed end use of the building? 
o Do Members support the proposals in respect of design, scale, form and 

detailing?  
o Do members support the proposed approach to landscaping and 

pedestrian connectivity?  
o Do members support the proposal in terms of highway matters? 

 
 

Page 67



Dism a n tle d R a ilwa y

Ar uba

St Ann s Ing  Lock

Shel ter

S G antry

1 to  57
Ca talina

120

Rive rside  West

11 6

29.0m

WELLINGTON STREET

SL

35

1a To wer Squ are

SL

30.2m

Le ed s C
ity  J un cti o

n

We stg at e Ho us e

29.9m

(PH)

The

Co ron et Ho use

4

Sa ntor ini

Far oe

WE
LL

ING
TO

N P
AR

K W
AY

Le ed s an d

El  Sub Sta

29.3m

29 
to 

62

ESS

SL

Ce ntr e
We stg at e

We llin gton

L C ol

29.0m

29.6m

Cyc le W
ay

MP  0.75

El  Sub Sta

Hote l

WELL
INGTON ROAD

FB

Elba

1 to  59

Be ringa

WHI TEHALL

Ward Bdy

29.0m

WELL INGTON STREET

ESS

32.3m

Aire

1

29.0m

10

L C ol

33

29.3m

29.0m

Signal G antrie
s

Mon arch  House

FB

1 to  102

Gas  M eter H ouse

1

We stra y

El  Sub Sta

Wh ite ha ll J un ct ion

Viaduct

WHI TE
HALL R

OAD

Shel ters
LB

El  Sub Sta

Slu ic e

RI VERSIDE WAY

7

We st On e

Ca stle Ho use

Elizab eth  House

28.3m

5

13
 to

 1
7

El  Sub Sta

1 to  81

Bri dge

1 to 38

WELL INGTON BRIDGE STREET

L C ol

1 to  93

MP  0.25

26

The  Head line

Mul tis torey  Car P ark

The  Crown e Plaza  Hotel

(Hote l)

SL

100 to  112

Ca r Par k
Multisto rey

LIT
TL

E 
QU

EE
N 

ST
RE

ET

GOTTS ROAD

Wel ling to n

29.9 m

Signal G antries

Mon k Bridge  Hous e

Ca nal Q uar ters

29.0m

Ward Bdy

WE
LL

ING
TO

N P
LA

CE

Liv er po o l
Ca na l

Tow  Path

31.1m

8

LISBO
N STREET

27 .7m

6

FB

3

5

Mon tagu e

MoP

1 to  28

1 to  36

30.5m

32.0m

Shel ter

Cy c le W ay

30.8m

Shel ters

GLOBE ROAD

2

Rive r

1 to 28

Wh iteha ll Wa ter fron t

114

We lling to n Pla ce

7

31.1 m

WELL INGTON BRIDGE STREET

Bo naire

1 to  93

1 to  242

Cy c le W ay

Mo n k B rid ge

Li ft

CR
O

PP
ER

 G
AT

E

GROVE STREET

SKINNER STREET

El Sub Sta

1 to  194

2

SL

GLOBE ROAD

Ca r P ar k

Re gen t Hou se20/01173/CLP  
CITY PLANS PANEL

 PRODUCED BY CITY DEVELOPMENT, LOCATION INTELLIGENCE TEAM, LEEDS CITY COUNCIL °SCALE : 1/2500

PREAPP/24/00331

© Crown copyright and database rights 2024 Ordnance Survey 100019567 Page 68



[G]

[G]
[G]

TU

TU

TU

TU

TU

TU

BUS
STOP

[G]

[G]
[G]

TU

TU

TU

TU

TU

TU

BUS
STOP

I
C

L
P

3
2
.
0
0

3
1
.
7
4

3
1
.
8
2

3
1
.
7
8

2
9
.
1
0 2

9
.
1
0

2
9
.
1
0

2
9
.
0
9

2
9
.
0
9

2
9
.
1
3

2
9
.
1
4

27
.9
3

2
8
.
1
8

2
8
.
2
0

2
8
.
3
0

2
8
.
3
9

2
8
.
3
1

2
8.
1
1

2
8
.
1
1

2
8
.
3
7

2
9
.
5
8

2
9
.
6
5

2
9
.
7
4

2
9
.
5
7

2
9
.
4
9

2
9
.
4
9

2
9
.
4
9

2
8
.
4
5

2
8
.
7
5

2
9
.
5
2

3
0
.
0
6

3
0
.
7
2

3
1
.
5
6

3
0
.
6
0

2
9
.
6
9

2
8
.
8
0

2
9
.
0
4

2
8
.
6
1

2
9
.
0
5

2
8
.
4
5

2
8
.
4
3

29.4
8

2
9
.
1
2

2
9
.
3
2

2
8
.
8
5

2
8
.
9
1

2
8
.
9
0

2
8
.
8
5

2
8
.
2
5

2
8
.
3
1

2
8
.
4
0

2
8
.
9
3

2
8
.
9
2

2
8
.
8
5

3
0
.
2
5

3
0
.
2
2

3
0
.
1
6

31.94

31.86
31.90

29.20

29.71

2
9
.
1
2

2
9
.
1
5

2
9
.
1
3

31.72

2
9
.
1
8

2
9
.
1
3

2
9
.
2
3

2
9
.
2
5

2
8
.
9
3

28.99

2
8
.
7
5

2
9
.
1
2

2
9
.
1
8

2
8
.
3
1

2
8
.
2
3

2
8
.
7
4

2
8
.
7
9

2
8
.
7
8

2
8
.
6
5

2
8
.
7
7

2
8
.
8
7

2
9
.
3
1

2
9
.
3
5

2
9
.
4
4

2
9
.
4
4

2
9
.
4
1

E
R

E
R

E
R

E
R

M
k
r

M
k
r

M
k
r

M
k
r

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

S
C

S
C

S
C

S
C

S
C

B

B

B

B

B

B

B

B B B B B B B

B

B

B

B B B B BB
B B

T
L

T
L

T
L T

L

R
S

R
S

R
S

R
S

R
S

L
P

L
P

L
P

L
P

L
P

L
P

L
P

L
P

L
P

L
P

L
P

L
P

L
P

L
PL

P

G
a
s

G
a
s

S
V

S
V

I
C

8WP 7WP

12WP 11WP

2WP

1WP

10WP
3WP

4WP

5WP

6WP9WP

14WP Red Line Boundary

Site Boundary Legend - Planning

Notes:
Riverside boundary based on Curtins FAS2 Drawing no: 
068605-CUR-00-ZZ-M3-S-21-00001.
9WP Boundary based on Planit-IE drawing no: 
2793-PLA-XX-XX-DR-L-0001.
11&12WP Boundary based on tp bennett drawing no: 
511253-TPB-ZZ-00-DR-A-08010.
Estate ownership boundary based on tp bennett drawing no: 
511253-TPB-ZZ-00-DR-A-08010.
Viaduct boundary based on Sheppard Robson drawing no: 
6146-SRA-XX-XX-DR-A-00101.
Masterplan plot paramaters based on 2019 consent, tp bennett 
drawing no: 511253-TPB-ZZ-00-DR-A-08010.

Land within application ownership

9WP Approved Building Footprint

As Built

As Approved

As Proposed

Notes:

5

B

A

C

D

E

F

G

H

J

K

L

432 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 141

CheckedDrawn

Project

Drawn Date Scale @ A1

Issue Purpose

Drawing Title

Revs

Comment

tp bennett

No. DateSuit.

Do not scale. Figured dimensions only to be taken from this drawing. Check 
dimensions on site & report discrepancies to the architect.

This Drawing is protected by copyright. ©

All areas have been measured from current drawings.They may vary because of 
(EG) survey, design development, construction tolerances, statutory requirements 
or re-definition of the areas to be measured.

Key plan

Client Name

Structural Engineer Name

Services Engineer Name

Consultant Name

Project Originator Volume Level Type Role Number Suitability Revision

21/10/2024 14:45:36

Existing Site Location Plan

Planning Drawing

14 Wellington Place

Wellington Place

Leeds

Preliminary

1:1250

Royal Mills  Unit 2B  17 Redhill Street  Manchester  M4 5BA | UK  +44 (0) 161 694 7700

www.tpbennett.com

BIM Model Ref: T8200-TPB-ZZ-ZZ-M3-A-00001-S0-P01

MEPC

Curtins

Arup

Gardiner & Theobald

ZZ P0304001ZZTPB S2DR AT8200

24/07/2024KNW

1 : 1250

Existing Site Location Plan
1 0

1:1250 25m 100m

12.5m 50m

P01 S2 29-07-2024 First Issue KNW JTU

P02 S2 02-08-2024 Viaduct link added, Site 2 boundary & pedestrian 
footbridge removed, red line boundary merged, 
amendments to boundary on Whitehall Road and 
amendments to legend in accordance with Planning 
Consultant comments

KNW JTU

P03 S2 21-10-2024 Red line boundary amended. JTU ADV

P
age 69



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	 
	6 Minutes - 10 October 2024
	7 Application 22-07525-FU - 42 The Headrow, Leeds, LS1 8HZ
	22-07525-FU Headrow House 28Oct2024
	22-07525-FU
	22-07525-FU location plan

	8 Pre-application -24-00331 - Wellington Place, Leeds, LS1 4AP
	PREAPP2400331 - WP building 14 LEWIS
	PREAPP-24-00331
	PREAPP2400331 - WP building 14.docx location plan
	Sheets
	ZZ 04001 - Existing Site Location Plan - Planning Drawing




